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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

To the Shareholders of
Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria, S.A.:

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria, S.A. (“the Bank™) and
companies composing, together with the Bank, the Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria Group (“the Group” — see Note 3), which comprise
the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2014, and the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of recognised
income and expense, consolidated statement of changes in equity, consolidated statement of cash flows and notes to the consolidated
financial statements for the year then ended.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Bank’s directors are responsible for preparing the accompanying consolidated financial statements so that they present fairly the
consolidated equity, consolidated financial position and consolidated results of the Group in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union and the other provisions of the regulatory financial reporting framework
applicable to the Group in Spain (identified in Note 1.2 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements) and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with the audit regulations in force in Spain. Those regulations require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal
control relevant to the preparation by the Parent’s directors of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated equity and
consolidated financial position of the Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria Group as at 31 December 2014, and its consolidated results
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by
the European Union and the other provisions of the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the Group in Spain.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

The accompanying consolidated directors’ report for 2014 contains the explanations which the Bank’s directors consider appropriate
about the situation of the Group, the evolution of its business and other matters, but is not an integral part of the consolidated financial
statements. We have checked that the accounting information in the consolidated directors’ report is consistent with that contained in
the consolidated financial statements for 2014. Our work as auditors was confined to checking the consolidated directors’ report with
the aforementioned scope, and did not include a review of any information other than that drawn from the accounting records of
Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria, S.A. and Subsidiaries.

DELOITTE, S.L.
Registered in ROAC under no. S0692

José Manuel Dominguez
4 February 2013
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BBVA Group

Consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.

Millions of Euros
ASSETS Notes m 2013 (*) 2012 (*)
CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANKS 9 31,430 34,903 35,494
FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD FOR TRADING 10 83,258 72112 79,829
Loans and advances to creditinstitutions - - -
Loans and advances to customers 128 106 244
Debt securities 33,883 29,602 28,020
Equity instruments 5,017 4,766 2,915
Trading derivatives 44,229 37,638 48,650
OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROAT OR LOSS 11 2,761 2,413 2,530
Loans and advances to creditinstitutions - - -
Loans and advances to customers - - -
Debt securities 737 663 753
Equity instruments 2,024 1,750 1,777
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 12 94,875 77,774 67,500
Debt securities 87,608 71,806 63,548
Equity instruments 7,267 5,968 3,952
LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 13 372,375 350,945 371,347
Loans and advances to credit institutions 27,059 22,862 25,448
Loans and advances to customers 338,657 323,607 342,163
Debt securities 6,659 4476 3,736
HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS 12 - - 10,162
FAIR VALUE CHANGES OF THE HEDGED ITEMS IN PORTFOLIO
HEDGES OF INTEREST RATE RISK 14 121 98 226
HEDGING DERIVATIVES 14 2,551 2,530 4,894
NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 15 3,793 2,880 4,229
EQUITY METHOD 16 4,509 4,742 10,782
Associates 417 1,272 6,469
Jointly ventures 4,092 3,470 4,313
INSURANCE CONTRACTS LINKED TO PENSIONS - - 7
REINSURANCE ASSETS 22 559 619 50
TANGIBLE ASSETS 17 7,820 7,534 7,572
Property, plants and equipment 6,428 5,841 5,702
For own use 5,985 5,373 5177
Other assets leased out under an operating lease 443 468 525
Investment properties 1,392 1,693 1,870
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18 7,371 6,759 7,132
Goodwill 5,697 5,069 5,430
Other intangible assets 1,673 1,690 1,702
TAX ASSETS 19 12,426 11,704 11,710
Current 2,035 2,502 1,851
Deferred 10,391 9,202 9,859
OTHER ASSETS 20 8,094 7,684 7,668
Inventories 4,443 4,636 4,223
Rest 3,651 3,048 3,445
TOTAL ASSETS 631,942 582,697 621,132

* Presented for comparison purposes only (Note 1.3).

The accompanying Notes 1 to 56 and Appendices | to XlII are an integral part of the consolidated balance sheet
as of December 31, 2014.
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BBVA Group

Consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.

Millions of Euros

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY Notes m 2013 (*) 2012 (*)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES HELD FOR TRADING 10 56,798 45,648 55,834
Deposits from central banks - - -
Deposits from credit institutions - - -
Customer deposits - - -

Debt certificates - - -
Trading derivatives 45,052 38,119 49,254
Short positions 11,747 7,529 6,580

Other financial liabilities - - -
OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROAT OR LOSS 11 2,724 2,467 2,216
Deposits from central banks - - -
Deposits from credit institutions - - -
Customer deposits - - -

Debt certificates - - -
Subordinated liabilities - - -
Other financial liabilities 2,724 2,467 2,216
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT AMORTIZED COST 21 491,899 464,549 490,807
Deposits from central banks 28,193 30,893 46,475
Deposits from credit institutions 65,168 52,423 55,675
Customer deposits 319,060 300,490 282,795
Debt certificates 58,096 64,120 86,255
Subordinated liabilities 14,095 10,556 11,815
Other financial liabilities 7,288 6,067 7,792
FAIR VALUE CHANGES OF THE HEDGED ITEMS IN PORTFOLIO
HEDGES OF INTEREST RATE RISK 14 - - -
HEDGING DERIVATIVES 14 2,331 1,792 2,968
LIABILITIES ASSOCIATED WITH NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD
FOR SALE 15 - - 387
LIABILITIES UNDER INSURANCE CONTRACTS 22 10,460 9,834 9,020
PROVISIONS 23 7,444 6,853 7,834
Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 24 5,970 5,512 5777
Provisions for taxes and other legal contingencies 262 208 406
Provisions for contingent risks and commitments 381 346 322
Other provisions 831 787 1,329
TAX LIABILITIES 19 4,157 2,530 3,820
Current 980 993 1,058
Deferred 3,177 1,537 2,762
OTHER LIABILITIES 20 4,519 4,460 4,586
TOTAL LIABILITIES 580,333 538,133 577,472

(*)  Presented for comparison purposes only (Note 1.3).

The accompanying Notes 1 to 56 and Appendices | to Xl are an integral part of the consolidated balance sheet
as of December 31, 2014.
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BBVA Group

Consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY (Continued)

STOCKHOLDERS’ FUNDS
Common Stock
Issued
Unpaid and uncalled (-)
Share premium
Reserves
Accumulated reserves (losses)

Reserves (losses) of entities accounted for using the equity

method
Other equity instruments
Equity component of compound financial instruments
Other equity instruments
Less: Treasury stock
Income attributed to the parent company
Less: Dividends and remuneration
VALUATION ADJUSTMENTS
Available-for-sale financial assets
Cash flow hedging
Hedging of netinvestmentin foreign transactions
Exchange differences
Non-current assets held-for-sale
Entities accounted for using the equity method
Other valuation adjustments
NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST
Valuation adjustments
Rest
TOTAL EQUITY
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

MEMORANDUM ITEM

CONTINGENT RISKS
CONTINGENT COMMITMENTS

(*)  Presented for comparison purposes only (Note 1.3).

The accompanying Notes 1 to 56 and Appendices | to Xl are an integral part of the consolidated balance sheet

as of December 31, 2014.

Millions of Euros

Notes m 2013 (*) 2012 (*)
49,446 46,025 43,473
25 3,024 2,835 2,670
3,024 2,835 2,670
26 23,992 22,111 20,968
27 20,936 19,767 19,531
20,304 19,317 18,580
633 450 951
4311 67 59 62
67 59 62
28 (350) (66) (111)
2,618 2,084 1,676
(841) (765) (1,323)
29 (348) (3,831) (2,184)
3,816 851 (238)
(46) 8 36
(373) (100) (243)
(2,173) (3,023) (1,164)
- 3 (104)
(796) (1,130) (24)
(777) (440) (447)
30 2,511 2,371 2,372
(53) 70 188
2,563 2,301 2,184
51,609 44,565 43,661
631,942 582,697 621,132

Millions of Euros

Notes m 2013 () 2012 (%)
32 33,741 33,543 37,019
32 106,252 94,170 90,142
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BBVA Group

Consolidated income statements for the years ended December 31, 2014,
2013 and 2012.

Millions of Euros
Notes m 2013 (*) 2012 (*)
INTEREST AND SIMILAR INCOME 36 22,838 23,512 24,815
INTEREST AND SIMILAR EXPENSES 36 (8,456) (9.612) (10,341)
NET INTEREST INCOME 14,382 13,900 14,474
DIVIDEND INCOME 37 531 235 390
SHARE OF PROFIT OR LOSS OF ENTITIES ACCOUNTED FOR
USING THE EQUITY METHOD 38 343 694 1,039
FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME 39 5,530 5,478 5,290
FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSES 40 (1,356) (1,228) (1,134)
NET GAINS (LOSSES) ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES 41 1,435 1,608 1,636
Financial instruments held for trading 11 540 653
Other financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 27 49 69
Other financial instruments not at fair value through profit or
loss 1,397 1,019 914
Other - - -
EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES (NET) 699 903 69
OTHER OPERATING INCOME 42 4,581 4,995 4,765
Income on insurance and reinsurance contracts 3,622 3,761 3,631
Financial income from non-financial services 650 851 807
Rest of other operating income 308 383 327
OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 42 (5,420) (5,833) (4,705)
Expenses on insurance and reinsurance contracts (2,714) (2,831) (2,646)
Changes in inventories (506) (495) (406)
Rest of other operating expenses (2,200) (2,507) (1,653)
GROSS INCOME 20,725 20,752 21,824
ADMINISTRATION COSTS 43 (9,414) (9,701) (9,396)
Personnel expenses (5,410) (5,588) (5,467)
General and administrative expenses (4,004) (4,113) (3,929)
DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION 44 (1,145) (1,095) (978)
PROVISIONS (NET) 45 (1,142) (609) (641)
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON FINANCIAL ASSETS (NET) 46 (4,340) (5,612) (7,859)
Loans and receivables (4,304) (5,577) (7,817)
Other financial instruments not at fair value through profit or
loss (36) (35) (42)
NET OPERATING INCOME 4,684 3,735 2,950

* Presented for comparison purposes only (Note 1.3).

The accompanying Notes 1 to 56 and Appendices | to Xlll are an integral part of the consolidated income
statement corresponding to the year ended December 31, 2014.
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BBVA Group

Consolidated income statements for the years ended 2014, 2013 and 2012.

Millions of Euros

(Continued) Notes m 2013 (*) 2012 (¥)
NET OPERATING INCOME 4,684 3,735 2,950
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON OTHER ASSETS (NET) 47 (297) (467) (1,123)

Goodwill and other intangible assets (8) (14) (54)

Other assets (289) (453) (1,069)
GAINS (LOSSES) ON DERECOGNIZED ASSETS NOT
CLASSIFIED AS NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 48 46 (1,915) 3
NEGATIVE GOODWILL 18 - - 376
GAINS (LOSSES) IN NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
NOT CLASSIFIED AS DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 49 (453) (399) (624)
OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE TAX 3,980 954 1,582
INCOME TAX 19 (898) 16 352
PROFIT FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 3,082 970 1,934
PROFIT FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (NET) 49 - 1,866 393
PROFIT 3,082 2,836 2,327

Profit attributable to parent company 2,618 2,084 1,676

Profit attributable to non-controlling interests 30 464 753 651

Euros
Note m 2013 (*) 2012 (*)

EARNINGS PER SHARE 5
Basic earnings per share 0.44 0.36 0.30
Diluted earnings per share 0.44 0.36 0.30

* Presented for comparison purposes only (Note 1.3).

The accompanying Notes 1 to 56 and Appendices | to Xlll are an integral part of the consolidated income
statement corresponding to the year ended December 31, 2014.
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BBVA Group

Consolidated statements of recognized income and expenses for the years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.

Millions of Euros

Bl oo weo

PROFIT RECOGNIZED IN INCOME STATEMENT 3,082 2,836 2,327
OTHER RECOGNIZED INCOME (EXPENSES) 3,359 (1,765) 754
ITEMS NOT SUBJECT TO RECLASSIFICATION TO INCOME STATEMENT (346) 8 (224)
Actuarial gains and losses from defined benefit pension
plans (498) 11 (316)
Non-current assets available for sale - - -
Entities under the equity method of accounting (5) 1 (5)
Income tax related to items not subject to reclassification
to income statement 157 (4) 97
ITEMS SUBJECT TO RECLASSIFICATION TO INCOME STATEMENT 3,705 (1,773) 978
Available-for-sale financial assets 4,306 1,659 679
Valuation gains/(losses) 4,770 1,737 541
Amounts reclassified to income statement (464) (140) 109
Reclassifications (other) - 62 29
Cash flow hedging (71) (32) 7
Valuation gains/(losses) (71) (31) 7

Amounts reclassified to income statement - - -
Amounts reclassified to the initial carrying amount of the

hedged items - -
Reclassifications (other) - (1) -

Hedging of net investment in foreign transactions (273) 143 (84)
Valuation gains/(losses) (273) 143 (84)

Amounts reclassified to income statement - - -
Reclassifications (other) - - -

Exchange differences 760 (2,045) 601
Valuation gains/(losses) 761 (2,026) 601
Amounts reclassified to income statement 1) (19) -
Reclassifications (other) - - -

Non-current assets held for sale (4) 135 (103)
Valuation gains/(losses) 4) - (103)
Amounts reclassified to income statement - 135 -
Reclassifications (other) - - -

Entities accounted for using the equity method 338 (1,054) 238
Valuation gains/(losses) 337 (736) 238
Amounts reclassified to income statement 1 (260) -
Reclassifications (other) - (58) -

Rest of recognized income and expenses - - -

Income tax (1,351) (579) (360)

TOTAL RECOGNIZED INCOME/EXPENSES 6,441 1,071 3,081

Attributable to the parent company 6,100 436 2,279

Attributable to non-controlling interest 341 635 802

(*)  Presented for comparison purposes only (Note 1.3).

The accompanying Notes 1 to 56 and Appendices | to Xl are an integral part of the consolidated statement of
recognized income and expenses for the year ended December 31, 2014.



Ol

7 L0OZ ‘LE Joguusda( papus JeaA au) o) Alinba ul sebueyd Jo JuslUaIrIS Pa1epIjosuod ay)l JO Jed |eibajul ue ale |||X O] | Sedipuaddy pue 9g 01 | S910N bulAuedwodde ay |

609°LS sz 860°6% (8ve) avv'ev ve) 8192 (os¢g) 19 €€9 v0€‘02 Z66°'€Z vzo‘e ¥10Z ‘1€ 12qwasa(Q JO se sasuejeg
14744 - vve - e vve - - - - - - - s)yBu Juswyoje @aiy 8y} Jo uolisinboy

- - - - - - - - - - - - - yoIym 10
(v62) 44 (9¢eg) - (9¢eg) (rve) - - - (€) (88) - - Aynba |10} ul SUONONPaI/SESEBIOUI JO 15BN
(62) - (62) - (62) - - - (9¢) - L - - sjuswniisul Anba ym sjuswihe 4
- - - - - - - - - - - - - SUOJJBUIQW 0D $SAUISNG 0} 8NP U 01}oNpay /oSealou|
- - - - - G9.L (¥80'2) - - 98 eal - - saljus A)Inba |20} USAM]] SIBJSUBI |
(622) - (622) - (622) - - (¥82) - - S - - (1ou) syuswinisul Aynba Jayy 0 pue 3o0)s Ainseau) Buipn|oul suoloesuel |
(ov8) (ev2) (265) - (268) (268) - - - - - - - uonNquUIsIp puspiAlg

- - - - - - - - - - - - - saljljigel| [el1oUBUY O} SJUSWNIISUI AYINDS I8y} 0 JO UOIIEOISSE|0aY

- - - - sjuawWInIIsul A}INba Jay}0 0} s BIOUBU JO UOIIBOLISSE|0aY
144 - 144 - 144 - - - 144 - - - - sjuewnuysul Ayinba Jayyo o asealoul
- - - - - - - - - - - - - leuded ojul sanIlige!| [BIOUBULY O UOISISAUOD

- - - - uopoNPal ¥ 03IS UoWW 0

0002 - 000 - 0002 - - - - - (02) 1881 69 9SB2IOUI ¥00}S UOWW 0D
z09 (Loz) €08 - €08 (92) (v8o‘z) (v8z) 8 €8l 186 188 681 Aynba ul sabueyd Jayjo
4441 (34 LoL‘e €8V°E 8L9'C - 8L9‘e - - - - - - paziubooaa asuadxa/awodul [ejo]
S9S‘vY LLeT veL‘zy (es'e) SZ0'9Y (s92) ¥80°C (99) 65 (]:34 Zeel zz s€8'z asuejeq [eniul pajsnipy
- - - - - - - - - - - - - S101J8 JO UOI}D81I0D JO J08Y3
(g82) - (g82) - (g82) - (v#) - - - 1) - - () saro110d Bununoooe ur sebueyo Jo 10843
0S8‘vv LLe'e 6LvzY (ege) [X:14 (s92) 8ezz'e (99) 6S 0S¥ 8S5¥ 6L ze S€8°C (x) ¥10Z ‘L Atenuer jo se sasuejeg

Pouls W
(¥ @10N) Auedwo g ( 230N) Aanb3 sy Buisn (sesson)
spund suonessunwoy| jussed mMoowmz sjuswnuysup | 104 PeIUNOSOY seniesey (9z @30N) | (sz e30N)
(og @10N) (62 @21oN) | sispjoyyooig pue au3 03 fanseon 1 Aynb3 seniul pejejnwnooy | wniweid PEL
s)seiaju] sjusunsnipy |eroL spuspiata | elqeInguny . 18u10 (e (IS0S5ER)) sieys uowwon
Bu uoljenjep 1ssen oid :ssoq saAlasay

(LZ @JON) santesay

Spund ,S13p|oyy203§

Auedwo ) juaied ayj o} pajnquily Ayinb3 jejo )

soun3 jo suo

"'ZL0Z PUB €10 ‘V1L0Z ‘LE Jaquiadag papua sieah ayj Joj Ajinba ul sebueyd Jo SjusLlalels pajepljosuo)

‘Sj1eAald Uoisian abenbuel-ysiueds ay) ‘Aouedaidsip e Jo JUsAS

oY1 Uj (96 pue | 2JON 99S) Uoiun ueadoind ay) AG pajdope se ‘SSyH[-NT YIM 22UepIodde Ul paledald pue ysiueds Ul panssi Ajjleulblio SjusLiaiels jeiuel]{ pajepljosuoy) aly Jo Loiejsue.



Ll

7 LOZ LE Jaguuada papus JeaA oy o) Alinba ul sebueyd Jo JusWa1rIS Pa1epIjosuod ayl JO Jed |edbajul ue ale |||X 01 | Sedlpuaddy pue 9g 01 | S910N bulAuedwoodde sy |

(€71 910N) AlUO sesodind uosedwod 10} pajussald ®)

S9S'vi L2eC veLzy (1eg‘e) 52091 (g92) 80 (99) 65 0S¥ L1e'6L L'ze 5€8'C €102 ‘L€ 1aqwadaQ Jo se saduejeg
(191) - (191) - (Lo1) Ga) - - - - - - - S1yBU JUBWIOJle 8314 8Y) JO UONISINbOY

- - - - - - - - - - - - - YoM JO
(zLv) (vst) (852) - (852) (o) - - - - (26) - - Aynba 230} Ul SUOIIONPaI/SeSEBIOUI JO }S8Y
(¥1) - (1) - (1) - - - (9g) - 2z - - sjyuawniysul Anba yim syuswhed
- - - - - - - - - - - - - SUOIJeuIquIOD SSaUISN 0} 8NP U 01}oNPaYy /aSealou|
- - - - - el (9291) - - os) €58 - - sewjue AInba |e}0} UseM}aq S1ajsuel |
Gl - Gl - (72 - - 14 - - oe - - (10u) sjuswnuysul Aynba Jayyo pue 3o03s Ainseal) Buipnjoul suooesURl |
(280°1) (esy) (509) - (509) (509) - - - - - - - uonnquIsIp puspiAIg
- - - - - - - - - - - - - salijigel| [e1oueul) 0} sjuswinisul A)nba 19yYjo Jo uoleolISSE|0DY
- - - - - - - - - - - - - sjuawNIIsul AInba 18410 0} SaNIIIGe]| [B19UBUY JO UOHEDNISSE|09Y
€€ - €€ - €€ - - - €€ - - - - sjuawiniisur Ainba Jay30 jo eseaiou|
1€2°1 - 1€2°1 - LE2°L - - - - - - el 6 lendes oju; sal 1OUBUL J O UOISISAUOD
- - - - - - - - - - - - - uorONPal %0 03S UOWW 0
- - - - - - - - - - 02) - v 9SBBIOUI ¥20)S UOWW 0D
(891) (9€9) 891 - 891 855 (929°) 14 (€) @os) 8L evil s9l Aunba u1 sabueys 1ayj0
2.L0'L S€9 X% (Lv9%) ¥80°C - v80°C - - - - - - paziubooaa asuadxa/awodul [ejo]
L99‘ct zLET 68Z°LY (rer‘z) clIv'ey (eze) 929 () z9 156 0858l 89602 09T aoueleq [elul pajsnipy
- - - - - - - - - - - - - SI0LI9 JO U0I}981100 JO 10843
(LyL) - (LyL) - (L) - - - - - ) - - (,,) se0110d Buun 0ooe Uy sebueyod o 1083
208y [X4 0EY'LY (vaLz) vL9'eh (eze’) 919 (%9 29 156 LzLis 89602 092 (x«) €102 ‘L Azenuer jo se sasouejeg

pouls W
(v 230N) HIEDoE) ( ) SR SR G (sessoT)
spung suoljessunwoy jusieyq 8Z 910N sjuswnijsu; 4093 Pejunoddy senlesey (9z @30N)  (5zZ @30N) A V €102
() (0g @30N) (62 @10N) 5 3pjoyxo03g pue auy 03 oois Aynb3 sennuz poreinwnooy  WnIWeid A9038 *
c s}seiaju] lejoL sjuswisnipy leloL spuapiAld a|qeInquIY h.-.mmm:._. 19430 wouy (sesso) EYCUTS uowwon
Aynbg Builjo3u 0o uoljenjep :ssen n01d isseq saAnlasay
lejol -uoN (LZ @30N) saniasay

spun 4 ,sisp|oyyo03g
Auedwo 9 jusied ayj o3 peInquily Aynb3 ejor

soung jo suo

"(PaNUIUO0D) Z10Z PUB £10Z ‘v 10Z ‘L€ Jaquadaq papua sieaA ay) Joj Aunba ul ssbueyd Jo sjusLlualels pajepljosuo)

‘Sj1eAald Uoisian abenbuel-ysiueds ay) ‘Aouedaidsip e Jo JUsAS

oY1 Uj (96 pue | 2JON 99S) Uoiun ueadoind ay) AG pajdope se ‘SSyH[-NT YIM 22UepIodde Ul paledald pue ysiueds Ul panssi Ajjleulblio SjusLiaiels jeiuel]{ pajepljosuoy) aly Jo Loiejsue.



L

7 LOZ LE Jaguusda papus JeaA oy o) Alinba ul sebueyd Jo Juswla1rIS Pa1epIjosuod ayl JO Jed |edbajul ue ale |||X 01 | Sedlpuaddy pue 9g 01 | S910N bulAuedwoodde sy |

(€71 910N) AlUO sesodind uosedwod 1o} pajussald ®)
199'cy TLET 68Z°LY (¥81L°2) clv'ey (eze‘L) 9/9'L (L) 29 156 0858l 89602 029°C ZL0Z ‘L€ 19quiadaq jo se saduejeg
(0s2) - (0s2) - (0s2) (0s2) - - - - - - - SI4BL uewojle 881} 84} JO UoNISINbOY
- - - - - - - - - - - - - YoM Jo
(zge) Ve (98¢) - (98¢) (0s2) - - - (9) (o€L) - - Aynba [e30) Ut suonONPaI/SaSEIOUI 4O 1S3Y
(6%) - (61) - (67) - - - (12) - (82) - - sjyuawniysul Anba ym syuswhed
- - - - - - - - - - - - - SUOIJBUIQW 0D SSBUISN] 0] 8NP U 01}oNPaY /8SEIOU|
- - - - - 9Ll (¥00°€) - - 165 L6z'L - - seuue Ajnba (230} useMIaq Siajsuel L
0/2 - 0.2 - 0l2 - - 681 - - 18 - - (12u) syjuawniisul A)inba Jayjo pue ¥o03s Ainseau) Buipnjoul suonoesuEl |
(0v't) (28€) (€20°}) - (g20°1) (€20'1) - - - - - - - uonnquIsIp pus|
- - - - - - - - - - - - - qel| [e1oUBUl 0} Sjuswniisul A)inba Jay}o Jo uoleolISse|oay
- - - - - - - - - - - - - sjuawnJsulAINba JaY10 0} SaIlIqel| [efouBUl) 1O UONEDNISSEI0aY
ze - ze - ze - - - ze - - - - sjuswnujsul A}inba Jayjo o asealoul
26l - 61T - 2z6LC - - - - - - 866°L 61 lendes ojur sal BIOUBULY JO UOISIBAUOD
- - - - - - - - - - - - - u0119NPal 3}90]S UOWW 0D
- - - - - - - - - - (e2) - (Y2 8SB8IoUl %00)S UoWWoH
€99 (ezg) 986 - 986 (202) (00°€) 68l L 16S Wil 866'L 192 Aynba ui sabueys 1ayi10
180°€ co8 6.2°C €09 9,91 - 9,91 - - - - - - paziubooai asuadxa/awodul ejol
216'6€ €68°L 208 (282°2) Lig'oy (911L°1) v00'c (00g) 1S 09¢ 6EV'LL 0.6'8L €0v'e @duejeq [eniul pajsnipy
- - - - - - - - - - - - - S10119 JO U 011991100 JO 10843
(1v1) - (L) - (L) - - - - - (1)) - - () se1110d Buijun0ooe ui sebueyo jo yoey3
850°0% €681 S9L'8¢ (282°2) 256°0v (9L1°1) v00°‘e (00g) 1S 09¢ 08S°LL 0.6'8L £0V'Z (xx) Z10Z ‘) Asenuer jo se sadouejeg

poule W
(¥ @310N) Auedwo Aunb3 ayy Buisn (sessoT)
spung suoljessunwey jusied (82 230N) sjuswniysu] =194 Pejunoddy senlesey (9z @10N)  (sz @10N) A v zZ102
(o€ @30N) (62 210N)  siapjoyjo0lg pue su3 03 iu“.umm.mm Aunb3 sennuz pejeinwnooy  wniweid %2038 *
Aynbg sjsaiaju| |ejol sjuawisnipy lejol spuspialg a|qeINquLIIY e i 18430 woJj (sesso) aieyS uowwon
|eyol Bujjjoiuod RN :ssa J30ad saAl9say
-uoN (LZ @10N) saatasay

spun 4 ,sisp|oyyo03g
Auedwo 9 jusied ayj o3 peInquizy Aynb3 jejo

soung jo suolil N

"(PBNUIUO0D) Z1L0Z PUB £10Z ‘v 10Z ‘L€ Jaquadaq papud sieaA ay) Joj Aunba ul ssbueyd Jo sjusLlualels pajepljosuo)

‘Sj1eAald Uoisian abenbuel-ysiueds ay) ‘Aouedaidsip e Jo JUsAS
3Y] Ul (96 pue | 2JON 935) Uojun ueadoindy ayl Ag pajdope se ‘SSyH-N3 Yum aouepiodde Ul paledsid pue ysiueds Ui pansst Aljeulbro SjusLualels [eiued] pajepljosuo) ayl Jo uonesuel |

dnouo vAgd



Translation of the Consolidated Financial Statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with EU-IFRSs, as
adopted by the European Union (See Note 1 and 56). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

BBVA Group

Consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012.

Millions of Euros
Notes m 2013 (*) 2012 (*)
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (1) 50 (6,188) (500) 9,728
Profit for the year 3,082 2,836 2,327
Adjustments to obtain the cash flow from operating activities: 8,315 8,332 10,400
Depreciation and amortization 1,145 1,099 978
Other adjustments 7,170 7,233 9,422
Net increase/decrease in operating assets (53,244) 25,613 (38,637)
Financial assets held for trading (11,145) 7,717 (9,358)
Other financial assets designated at fair value through profit
orloss (349) 117 243
Available-for-sale financial assets (13,485) 1,938 (12,463)
Loans and receivables (27,299) 12,704 (12,073)
Other operating assets (966) 3,137 (4,986)
Net increase/decrease in operating liabilities 36,557 (37,265) 35,990
Financial liabilities held for trading 11,151 (10,186) 4,656
Other financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit
orloss 256 251 595
Financial liabilities at amortized cost 24,219 (24,660) 28,072
Other operating liabilities 931 (2,670) 2,666
Collection/Payments for income tax (898) (16) (352)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (2) 50 (1,151) 3,021 (1,060)
Investment (1,984) (2,325) (2,522)
Tangible assets (1,419) (1,252) (1,685)
Intangible assets (467) (526) (777)
Investments - (547) -
Subsidiaries and other business units (98) - -
Non-current assets held for sale and associated liabilities - - -
Held-to-maturity investments - - (60)
Other settlements related to investing activities - - -
Divestments 833 5,346 1,462
Tangible assets 167 101 -
Intangible assets - - -
Investments 118 944 19
Subsidiaries and other business units - 3,299 -
Non-current assets held for sale and associated liabilities 548 571 590
Held-to-maturity investments - 431 853
| Other collections related to investing activities - - -

* Presented for comparison purposes only (Note 1.3).

The accompanying Notes 1 to 56 and Appendices | to Xl are an integral part of the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2014.
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Translation of the Consolidated Financial Statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with EU-IFRSs, as
adopted by the European Union (See Note 1 and 56). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

BBVA Group

Consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012.

Millions of Euros

(Continued) Notes m 2013 (*) 2012 (*)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 5 50 3,157 (1,326) (3,492)
Investment (5,955) (6,104) (10,387)
Dividends (826) (1,275) (1,269)
Subordinated liabilities (1,046) (697) (3,930)
Common stock amortization - - -
Treasury stock acquisition (3,770) (3,614) (4,831)
Other items relating to financing activities (313) (518) (357)
Divestments 9,112 4,778 6,895
Subordinated liabilities 3,628 1,088 1,793
Common stock increase 2,000 2 -
Treasury stock disposal 3,484 3,688 5,102
Other items relating to financing activities - - -
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES (4) 725 (1,784) 471
NET INCREASE/DECREASE IN CASH OR CASH EQUIVALENTS
(14243 +4) (3,457) (589) 5,647
CASH OR CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 34,887 35,476 29,829
CASH OR CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR 31,430 34,887 35,476

Millions of Euros
COMPONENTS OF CASH AND EQUIVALENT AT END OF THE YEAI Notes m 2013 (*) 2012 (*)

Cash ‘ 6,247 5,633 5,155
Balance of cash equivalent in central banks 25,183 29,354 30,321
Other financial assets - - -
Less: Bank overdraft refundable on demand - - -
TOTAL CASH OR CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR 9 31,430 34,887 35,476
Of which: - - -

Held by consolidated subsidiaries but not available for the

Group - - -

* Presented for comparison purposes only (Note 1.3).

The accompanying Notes 1 to 56 and Appendices | to Xl are an integral part of the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2014.
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Translation of the Consolidated Financial Statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with EU-IFRSs, as
adopted by the European Union (See Note 1 and 56). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

BBVA Group

Notes to the consolidated financial statements as of and for the period ended
December 31, 2014

1. Introduction, basis for the presentation of the consolidated financial
statements and internal control of financial information.

1.1 Introduction

Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria, S.A. (hereinafter “the Bank” or “BBVA") is a private-law entity subject to the laws
and regulations governing banking entities operating in Spain. It carries out its activity through branches and
agencies across the country and abroad.

The Bylaws and other public information are available for inspection at the Bank’s registered address (Plaza San
Nicolds, 4 Bilbao) as on its web site (www.bbva.com).

In addition to the transactions it carries out directly, the Bank heads a group of subsidiaries, joint venture and
associates which perform a wide range of activities and which together with the Bank constitute the Banco Bilbao
Vizcaya Argentaria Group (hereinafter, “the Group” or “the BBVA Group”). In addition to its own separate financial
statements, the Bank is therefore required to prepare the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

As of December 31, 2014, the BBVA Group was made up of 299 consolidated entities and 116 entities
accounted for using the equity method (see Notes 3 and 16 Appendices | to V).

The consolidated financial statements of the BBVA Group for the year ended December 31, 2013 were approved
by the shareholders at the Annual General Meetings (AGM”) on March 14, 2014.

BBVA Group’s consolidated financial statements and the financial statements for the Bank and most of the
remaining entities within the Group have been prepared as of December 31, 2014, and are pending approval by
their respective AGMs. Notwithstanding, the Board of Directors of the Bank understands that said financial
statements will be approved without changes.

1.2 Basis for the presentation of the consolidated financial statements

The BBVA Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standards endorsed by the European Union (hereinafter, "‘EU-IFRS") applicable as of December 31
2014, considering the Bank of Spain Circular 4/2004, of 22 December (and as amended thereafter), and with
any other legislation governing financial reporting applicable to the Group.

The BBVA Group's accompanying consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2014 were
prepared by the Group's Directors (through the Board of Directors held February 3, 2015) by applying the
principles of consolidation, accounting policies and valuation criteria described in Note 2, so that they present
fairly the Group’s consolidated equity and financial position as of December 31, 2014, together with the
consolidated results of its operations and cash flows generated during the year 2014.

These consolidated financial statements were prepared on the basis of the accounting records kept by the Bank
and each of the other entities in the Group. Moreover, they include the adjustments and reclassifications required
to harmonize the accounting policies and valuation criteria used by the Group (see Note 2.2).

All effective accounting standards and valuation criteria with a significant effect in the consolidated financial
statements were applied in their preparation.

The amounts reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements are presented in millions of euros,
unless it is more appropriate to use smaller units. Some items that appear without a total in these consolidated
financial statements do so because how the units are express. Also, in presenting amounts in millions of euros,
the accounting balances have been rounded up or down. It is therefore possible that the totals appearing in some
tables are not the exact arithmetical sum of their component figures.

The percentage changes in amounts have been calculated using figures expressed in thousands of euros.
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Translation of the Consolidated Financial Statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with EU-IFRSs, as
adopted by the European Union (See Note 1 and 56). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

1.3 Comparative information

The information included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements and the explanatory notes
referring to December 371, 2013 and 20712 are presented exclusively for the purpose of comparison with the
information for December 31, 2014 and therefore it does not constitute the BBVA Group consolidated financial
statements for the year 2013 and 2012.

Following the adoption of IFRIC 21 on levies by the IFRS interpretations Committee, in 2014 there was a change
in accounting policy with respect to contributions made to the Deposit Guarantee Fund. According to the
International Accounting Standards (denominated IAS 8), IFRIC 21 has been applied retroactively restating certain
amounts presented for comparative purposes from prior years (see Appendices XIID.

The main effect of this change is that:

« With respect to the income statements from 2013, the balances for the following line items have been
modified: "Other Income and Expenses’ and consequently the line items of "Gross Margin®, "Operating
income", "Operating Profit & Loss before tax" and "Profit attributable to parent company”. Therefore, the "profit
attributable to parent company” for the year 2013 becomes €2,084 million compared to €2,228 million
registered under the previous regulation.

o With respect to the balance sheet from 2013 and 2012, this change affects in a material manner the
balances for the following line items: “Deferred tax assets”, “Financial liabilities at amortized cost - Other
financial liabilities”, “Reserves” and consequently the line items “Total assets”, “Total liabilities”, “Stockholders’
funds” and “Total equity”.

1.4 Seasonal nature of income and expenses

The nature of the most significant operations carried out by the BBVA Group's entities is mainly related to
traditional activities carried out by financial institutions, which are not significantly affected by seasonal factors.

1.5 Responsibility for the information and for the estimates made

The information contained in the BBVA Group’s consolidated financial statements is the responsibility of the
Group’s Directors.

Estimates have to be made at times when preparing these consolidated financial statements in order to calculate
the recorded amount of some assets, liabilities, income, expenses and commitments. These estimates relate
mainly to the following:

e Impairment on certain financial assets (see Notes 7, 8, 12, 13 and 16).

e The assumptions used to quantify certain provisions (see Notes 22 and 23) and for the actuarial calculation
of post-employment benefit liabilities and commitments (see Note 24).

e The useful life and impairment losses of tangible and intangible assets (see Notes 15, 17, 18 and 20).
e The valuation of goodwill (see Note 18).

e The fair value of certain unlisted financial assets and liabilities (see Notes 7, 8, 10, 11, 12 and 14).

Although these estimates were made on the basis of the best information available as of December 31, 2014 on
the events analyzed, future events may make it necessary to modify them (either up or down) over the coming
years. This would be done prospectively in accordance with applicable standards, recognizing the effects of
changes in the estimates in the corresponding consolidated income statement.

1.6 Control of the BBVA Group’s financial reporting

The financial information prepared by the BBVA Group is subject to a system of internal financial control system
(hereinafter “IFCS"), which provides reasonable assurance with respect to its reliability and integrity, and to ensure
that the consolidated financial information as well as the transactions carried out and processed use the criteria
established by the BBVA Group’s management and comply with applicable laws and regulations.
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Translation of the Consolidated Financial Statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with EU-IFRSs, as
adopted by the European Union (See Note 1 and 56). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

The IFCS was developed by the BBVA Group’s management in accordance with framework established by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (hereinafter, "COSO". The COSO
framework stipulates five components that must form the basis of the effectiveness and efficiency of systems of
internal control:

e Establishment of an appropriate control framework to monitor these activities.
e Assessment of all of the risks that could arise during the preparation of financial information.
e Design the necessary controls to mitigate the most critical risks.

e Establishment of an appropriate system of information flows to detect and report system weaknesses or
flaws.

e Monitoring of the controls to ensure they perform correctly and are effective over time.

In May 2013, COSO released an updated version of its framework called Internal Control Integrated Framework
version. This update provides a broader framework than the previous guidance (17 principles) and clarifies the
requirements for determining what constitutes effective internal control (84 points of focus). After analyzing the
current version of the mentioned framework and its compliance level at BBVA, it is possible to assure that the
internal control of financial information generally complies with the 2013 COSO model.

The IFCS is a dynamic framework that evolves continuously over time to reflect the reality of the BBVA Group's
business at any time, together with the risks affecting it and the controls designed to mitigate these risks. It is
subject to continuous evaluation by the internal control units located in the BBVA Group’s different entities.

The Internal Control Units comply with a common and standard methodology issued by the corporate internal
control units, which also perform a supervisory role over them, as set out in the following
diagram:

BBVA’s INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM

FIZI—FI—VI—VI—VI—FI—

Risk Identification
Selection of Docfumentatlon \ identlfication, Doc;lmentac:llon \ and \E\:Iu:ﬂon of thf\
evaluation 3 prz;ess evaluation and o cc:jmlr management 5 e.t:hmlz:g;s 2
scope lesz prioritization LIOUEH of residual rlsk =

/

Definition and
documentation of

/ /

'_-I

Controls | |
Identlflcatlon of
risks linked to

l- l-

Selection of
companies and
relevant
information to be
covered

the processes’ map
that is directly and
indirectly involved
in the preparation
of financial
information.

processes that can
provoke errors in
the financial
information.
Criticality
assessment of
risks.

Identification of
key mitigating
controls

Identification and
management of the
degree of risk
mitigation with the
controls identified.

Periadic review,
certificationand
communication of
IFCS effectiveness

In addition, the Internal Control Units, IFCS Model is subject to annual evaluations by the Group’s Internal Audit
Department and external auditors. It is also supervised by the Audit and Compliance Committee of the Bank's
Board of Directors.

The BBVA Group complies with the requirements of the Sarbanes Oxley Act (hereafter “SOX") for consolidated
financial statements as a listed company in the Securities Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The main senior
executives of the Group take a part in the design, compliance and implementation of the internal control model
to make it efficient and to ensure quality and accuracy of the financial information.

The description of the Internal Financial Control System for financial information is detailed in the Corporate

Governance Annual Report, which is included within the Management Report attached to these consolidated
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2014.
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adopted by the European Union (See Note 1 and 56). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

1.7 Mortgage market policies and procedures

The information on “Mortgage market policies and procedures” (for the granting of mortgage loans and for debt
issues secured by such mortgage loans) required by Bank of Spain Circular 5/20171, applying Royal Decree
716/2009, dated April 24 (which developed certain aspects of Act 2/1981, dated 25 March, on the regulation of
the mortgage market and other mortgage and financial market regulations), can be found in Appendix X.

2. Principles of consolidation, accounting policies and measurement bases
applied and recent IFRS pronouncements

The Glossary includes the definition of some of the financial and economic terms used in Note 2 and subsequent
Notes of the consolidated financial statements.

2.1 Principles of consolidation

In terms of its consolidation, accordance with the criteria established by the IFRS, the BBVA Group is made up of
four types of entities: subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates and structured entities, define as follows:

e Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group (for definition of the criterion for control, see Glossary).The
financial statements of the subsidiaries are fully consolidated with those of the Bank.

The share of non-controlling interests from subsidiaries in the Group’s consolidated equity is presented under
the heading “Non-controlling interests” in the consolidated balance sheet. Their share in the profit or loss for
the period or year is presented under the heading “Profit attributable to non-controlling interests” in the
accompanying consolidated income statement (see Note 30).

Note 3 include information related to the main subsidiaries in the Group as of December 31, 2014.
Appendix | includes other significant information on these entities.

e Joint ventures

Joint ventures are those entities over which there is a joint arrangement to joint control with third parties
other than the Group (for definitions of joint arrangement, joint control and joint venture, refer to Glossary).

The investments in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method (see Note 16). Appendix |l
shows the main figures for joint ventures accounted for using the equity method.

e Associates

Associates are entities in which the Group is able to exercise significant influence (for definition of significant
influence, see Glossary). Significant influence is deemed to exist when the Group owns 20% or more of the
voting rights of an investee directly or indirectly, unless it can be clearly demonstrated that this is not the
case.

However, certain entities in which the Group owns 20% or more of the voting rights are not included as
Group associates, since the Group does not have the ability to exercise significant influence over these
entities. Investments in these entities, which do not represent material amounts for the Group, are classified
as “Available-for-sale financial assets”.

In contrast, some investments in entities in which the Group holds less than 20% of the voting rights are
accounted for as Group associates, as the Group is considered to have the ability to exercise significant
influence over these entities.

Appendix Il shows the most significant information related to the associates (see Note 16), which are
accounted for using the equity method.

e Structured Entities
A structured entity (see Glossary) is an entity that has been designed so that voting or similar rights are not

the dominant factor in deciding who controls the entity, such as when the voting rights relate to
administrative matters only and the relevant activities are directed by means of contractual arrangements.
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In those cases where the Group sets up entities, or has a holding in such entities, in order to allow its
customers access to certain investments, or to transfer risks or for other purposes, in accordance with
internal criteria and procedures and with applicable regulations, the Group determines whether control over
the entity in question actually exists and therefore whether it should be subject to consolidation.

Such methods and procedures determine whether there is control by the Group, considering how the
decisions are made about the relevant activities, assesses whether the Group has all power over the relevant
elements, exposure, or rights, to variable returns from involvement with the investee; and the ability to use
power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns.

- Structured entities subject to consolidation

To determine if a structured entity controls the investee, and therefore should be consolidated into the
Group, the existing contractual rights (different from the voting rights) are analyzed. For this reason, an
analysis of the structure and purpose of each investee will be performed and, among others, the
following factors will be considered:

- Evidence of the current ability to manage the relevant activities of the entity according to the
specific business needs (including any decisions that may arise only in particular circumstances).

- Potential existence of a special relationship with the entity.
- Implicit or explicit Group commitments to support the entity.

- The ability to use the Group’s power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s
returns.

There are cases where the Group has a high exposure to variable returns and maintains existing decision-
making power over the entity, either directly or through an agent.

The main structured entities of the Group are the so-called asset securitization funds, to which the BBVA
Group transferred loan portfolios, and other vehicles, which allow the Group’s customers to gain access
to certain investments or to allow for the transfer of risks and other purposes (See Appendix | and V).
BBVA maintains the decision-making power over the relevant activities of these vehicles through
securitized market standard contractual financial support. The most common ones are: investment
positions in eqguity note tranches, funding through subordinated debt, credit improvements through
derivative instruments or liquidity lines, management rights of defaulted securitized assets, “clean-up” call
derivatives, and asset repurchase clauses by the grantor.

For these reasons, the loans related to the vast majority of the securitizations carried out by the bank or
Group subsidiaries are not deregistered in the books of said entity and the issuances of these
securitizations are registered as liabilities within the Group’s balance sheet.

- Non-consolidated structured entities

The Group owns other vehicles also for the purpose of allowing access to customers to certain
investment, transfer risks, and other purposes, but without the control of these and which are considered
non-consolidated in accordance with IFRS 10. The balance of assets and liabilities of these vehicles is not
material in relation to the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

As of December 31, 2014 there was no material financial support from the parent or subsidiaries to
unconsolidated structured entities.

The Group does not consolidate any of the mutual funds managed since the necessary control conditions are not
met (See definition of control in the Glossary). Particularly, the BBVA Group does not act as arranger but as agent
since it operates on behalf and for the benefit of invertors or parties (arranger of arrangers) and, for this reason it
does not control the mutual funds when exercising its authority for decision making.

On the other hand, the mutual funds managed by the Group are not considered structured entities (generally,
retail funds without corporate identity over which investors have participations which gives them ownership of
said managed equity). These funds are not dependent on a capital structure that could prevent them to carry out
activities without additional financial support, being in any case insufficient as far as the activities themselves are
concerned. Additionally, the risk of the investment is absorbed by the fund participants, and the Group is only
exposed when it becomes a participant, and as such, there is no other risk for the Group. Furthermore, in the
case of guaranteed investment funds, the investment policy is designed in such a way that the Group collateral
does not have to be exercised.
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In all cases, results of equity method investees acquired by the BBVA Group in a particular period are included
taking into account only the period from the date of acquisition to the financial statements date. Similarly, the
results of entities disposed of during any year are included taking into account only the period from the start of
the year to the date of disposal.

The financial statements of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures used in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group relate to the same date of presentation than the consolidated financial
statements. If financial statements at those same dates are not available, the most recent will be used, as long as
these are not older than three months, and adjusting to take into account the most significant transactions. As of
December 31, 2014, all of the financial statements of all Group entities were available, save for the case of the
financial statements of five non-material associates and joint-ventures for which the financial statements were as
of November 30, 2014.

Our banking subsidiaries, associates and joint venture around the world, are subject to supervision and regulation
from a variety of regulatory bodies in relation to, among other aspects, the satisfaction of minimum capital
requirements. The obligation to satisfy such capital requirements may affect the ability of such entities to transfer
funds in the form of cash dividends, loans or advances. In addition, under the laws of the various jurisdictions
where such entities are incorporated, dividends may only be paid out through funds legally available for such
purpose. Even when the minimum capital requirements are met and funds are legally available, the relevant
regulator or other public administrations could discourage or delay the transfer of funds to the Group in the form
of cash, dividends, loans or advances for prudential reasons.

Separate financial statements

The separate financial statements of the parent company of the Group (Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria, S.A.) are
prepared under Spanish regulations (Circular 4/2004 of the Bank of Spain, and subsequent amendments) and
following other regulatory requirements of financial information applicable to the Bank. The Bank uses the cost
method to account in its separate financial statements its investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture
entities, which is consistent with the requirements of IAS 27.

Appendix IX shows BBVA's financial statements as of December 31, 2014 and 2013.

2.2 Accounting policies and valuation criteria applied

The accounting standards and policies and the valuation criteria applied in preparing these consolidated financial
statements may differ from those used by some of the entities within the BBVA Group. For this reason, necessary
adjustments and reclassifications have been introduced in the consolidation process to standardize these
principles and criteria and comply with the EU-IFRS.

The accounting standards and policies and valuation criteria used in preparing the accompanying consolidated
financial statements are as follows:

2.2.1 Financial instruments
Measurement of financial instruments and recognition of changes in subsequent fair value

All financial instruments are initially accounted for at fair value which, unless there is evidence to the contrary,
shall be the transaction price.

All the changes in the fair value of the financial instruments, except in trading derivatives, arising from the accrual
of interests and similar items are recognized under the headings “Interest and similar income” or “Interest and
similar expenses’, as appropriate, in the accompanying consolidated income statement for the year in which the
change occurred (see Note 36). The dividends received from other entities are recognized under the heading
“Dividend income” in the accompanying consolidated income statement for the year in which the right to receive
them arises (see Note 37).

The changes in fair value after the initial recognition, for reasons other than those mentioned in the preceding
paragraph, are treated as described below, according to the categories of financial assets and liabilities.
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“Financial assets held for trading” and “Other financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss”

The assets and liabilities recognized under these headings of the consolidated balance sheets are measured at fair
value and changes in the fair value (gains or losses) are recognized as their net value under the heading “Net
gains (losses) on financial assets and liabilities” in the accompanying consolidated income statements (see Note
471). However, changes in fair value resulting from variations in foreign exchange rates are recognized under the
heading “Exchange differences (net)" in the accompanying consolidated income statements.

“Available-for-sale financial assets”

Assets recognized under this heading in the consolidated balance sheets are measured at their fair value.
Subsequent changes in fair value (gains or losses) are recognized temporarily for their amount net of tax effect,
under the heading “Valuation adjustments - Available-for-sale financial assets” in the consolidated balance sheets.

Changes in the value of non-monetary items resulting from changes in foreign exchange rates are recognized
temporarily under the heading “Valuation adjustments - Exchange differences” in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets. Changes in foreign exchange rates resulting from monetary items are recognized under the
heading “Exchange differences (net)" in the accompanying consolidated income statements.

The amounts recognized under the headings “Valuation adjustments - Available-for-sale financial assets” and
“Valuation adjustments - Exchange differences” continue to form part of the Group's consolidated equity until the
corresponding asset is derecognized from the consolidated balance sheet or until an impairment loss is
recognized in the corresponding financial instrument. If these assets are sold, these amounts are derecognized
and included under the headings “Net gains (losses) on financial assets and liabilities” or “Exchange differences
(net)", as appropriate, in the consolidated income statement for the year in which they are derecognized.

The gains from sales of other equity instruments considered strategic investments included under “Available-for-
sale financial assets” are recognized under the heading “Gains (losses) in non-current assets held-for-sale not
classified as discontinued operations” in the consolidated income statement, even if they had not been classified
in a previous balance sheet as non-current assets held for sale.

The net impairment losses in “Available-for-sale financial assets” over the year are recognized under the heading
‘Impairment losses on financial assets (net) - Other financial instruments not at fair value through profit or loss”
(see Note 46) in the consolidated income statements for that period.

“Loans and receivables”, “Held-to-maturity investments” and “Financial liabilities at amortized cost”

Assets and liabilities recognized under these headings in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets are
measured at “amortized cost” using the “effective interest rate” method. This is because the consolidated entities
intend to hold such financial instruments to maturity.

Net impairment losses of assets recognized under these headings arising in a particular period are recognized
under the heading “Impairment losses on financial assets (net) - Loans and receivables” or “Impairment losses on
financial assets (net) - Other financial instruments not valued at fair value through profit or loss” (see Note 46) in
the consolidated income statement for that period.

“Hedging derivatives” and “Fair value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedges of interest-rate risk”

Assets and liabilities recognized under these headings in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets are
measured at fair value.

Changes occurring subsequent to the designation of the hedging relationship in the measurement of financial
instruments designated as hedged items as well as financial instruments designated as hedge accounting
instruments are recognized as follows:

e In fair value hedges, the changes in the fair value of the derivative and the hedged item attributable to the
hedged risk are recognized under the heading “Net gains (losses) on financial assets and liabilities” in the
consolidated income statement, with a corresponding item under the headings where hedging items
("Hedging derivatives") and the hedged items are recognized, as applicable.
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e In fair value hedges of interest rate risk of a portfolio of financial instruments (portfolio-hedges), the gains or
losses that arise in the measurement of the hedging instrument are recognized in the consolidated income
statement, and the gains or losses that arise from the change in the fair value of the hedged item
(attributable to the hedged risk) are recognized in the consolidated income statement, using, as a balancing
item, the headings "Fair value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedges of interest rate risk" in the
consolidated balance sheets, as applicable.

e In cash flow hedges, the gain or loss on the hedging instruments relating to the effective portion are
recognized temporarily under the heading "Valuation adjustments - Cash flow hedging” in the consolidated
balance sheets. These differences are recognized in the accompanying consolidated income statement at the
time when the gain or loss in the hedged instrument affects profit or loss, when the forecast transaction is
executed or at the maturity date of the hedged item. Almost all of the hedges used by the Group are for
interest-rate risks. Therefore, the valuation changes are recognized under the headings “Interest and similar
income” or ‘Interest and similar expenses’, as appropriate, in the accompanying consolidated income
statement (see Note 36).

e Differences in the measurement of the hedging items corresponding to the ineffective portions of cash flow
hedges are recognized directly in the heading “Net gains (losses) on financial assets and liabilities™ in the
consolidated income statement (See Note 41).

e |n the hedges of net investments in foreign operations, the differences attributable to the effective portions of
hedging items are recognized temporarily under the heading "Valuation adjustments - Hedging of net
investments in foreign transactions’ in the consolidated balance sheets. These differences in valuation are
recognized under the heading “Exchange differences (net)" in the consolidated income statement when the
investment in a foreign operation is disposed of or derecognized.

Other financial instruments
The following exceptions are applicable with respect to the above general criteria:

e Equity instruments whose fair value cannot be determined in a sufficiently objective manner and financial
derivatives that have those instruments as their underlying asset and are settled by delivery of those
instruments remain in the consolidated balance sheet at acquisition cost; this may be adjusted, where
appropriate, for any impairment loss. (see Note 8)

e Valuation adjustments arising from financial instruments classified at the consolidated balance sheet date as
non-current assets held for sale are recognized with the corresponding entry under the heading “Valuation
adjustments - Non-current assets held for sale” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Impairment losses on financial assets
Definition of impaired financial assets

A financial asset is considered impaired - and therefore its carrying amount is adjusted to reflect the effect of
impairment - when there is objective evidence that events have occurred, which:

e In the case of debt instruments (loans and advances and debt securities), reduce the future cash flows that
were estimated at the time the transaction was entered into. So they are considered impaired when there are
reasonable doubts that the carrying amounts will be recovered in full and/or the related interest will be
collected for the amounts and on the dates initially agreed.

e In the case of equity instruments, it means that their carrying amount may not be fully recovered.

As a general rule, the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is adjusted with a charge to the consolidated
income statement for the period in which the impairment becomes known. The recoveries of previously
recognized impairment losses are reflected, if appropriate, in the consolidated income statement for the year in
which the impairment is reversed or reduced, with an exception: any recovery of previously recognized
impairment losses for an investment in an equity instrument classified as financial assets available for sale is not
recognized in the consolidated income statement, but under the heading "Valuation Adjustments - Available-for-
sale financial assets" in the consolidated balance sheet (see Note 29).
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In general, amounts collected in relation to impaired loans and receivables are used to recognize the related
accrued interest and any excess amount is used to reduce the unpaid principal.

When the recovery of any recognized amount is considered remote, this amount is written-off on the
consolidated balance sheet, without prejudice to any actions that may be taken in order to collect the amount
until the rights extinguish in full either because it is time-barred debt, the debt is forgiven, or other reasons.

In the case of particularly significant financial assets, and assets that cannot be classified within similar groups of
instruments in terms of risk, the amounts to be charged off are measured individually. In the case of financial
assets for lower amounts that can be classified in homogeneous groups, this measurement is carried out as a
group.

According to the Group’s established policy, the recovery of a recognized amount is considered remote and,
therefore, derecognized from the consolidated balance sheet in the following cases:

e Any loan (except for those carrying an effective guarantee) of an entity in bankruptcy and/or in the last
phases of a “concurso de acreedores” (the Spanish equivalent of a Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceeding), and

e Financial assets (bonds, debentures, etc.) whose issuer's solvency had been undergone a notable and
irreversible deterioration.

Additionally, loans and advances classified as impaired secured loans are written off in the balance sheet within a
maximum period of four years of their classification as impaired, while impaired unsecured loans (such as
commercial and consumer loans, credit cards, etc.) are written off within two years of their classification as
impaired.

Impairment on financial assets

The impairment on financial assets is determined by type of instrument and other circumstances that could affect
it, taking into account the guarantees received by the owners of the financial instruments to assure (in part or in
full) the performance of the financial assets. The BBVA Group recognizes impairment charges directly against the
impaired financial asset when the likelihood of recovery is deemed remote, and uses an offsetting or allowance
account when it recognizes non-performing loan provisions for the estimated losses.

Impairment of debt securities measured at amortized cost

The amount of impairment losses of debt securities at amortized cost is measured depending on whether the
impairment losses are determined individually or collectively.

Impairment losses on financial assets individually evaluated for impairment

The amount of the impairment losses incurred on financial assets represents the excess of their respective
carrying amounts over the present values of their expected future cash flows. These cash flows are discounted
using the original effective interest rate. If a financial asset has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for
measuring any impairment loss is the current effective rate determined under the contract.

As an exception to the rule described above, the market value of listed debt instruments is deemed to be a fair
estimate of the present value of their expected future cash flows.

The following is to be taken into consideration when estimating the future cash flows of debt instruments:

e All the amounts that are expected to be recovered over the remaining life of the instrument; including, where
appropriate, those which may result from the collateral and other credit enhancements provided for the
instrument (after deducting the costs required for foreclosure and subseguent sale). Impairment losses
include an estimate for the possibility of collecting accrued, past-due and uncollected interest.

e The various types of risk to which each instrument is subject.

e The circumstances in which collections will foreseeably be made.
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In respect to impairment losses resulting from the materialization of insolvency risk of the obligors (credit risk), a
debt instrument is impaired:

* When there is evidence of a reduction in the obligor's capacity to pay, whether manifestly by default or for
other reasons; and/or

e For these purposes, country risk is understood to refer to risk with respect to debtors resident in a particular
country and resulting from factors other than normal commercial risk: sovereign risk, transfer risk or risks
derived from international financial activity.

The BBVA Group has policies, methods and procedures for hedging its credit risk, for insolvency attributable to
counterparties and country-risk. These policies, methods and procedures are applied to the arrangement, study
and documentation of debt instruments, contingent risks and commitments, as well as the identification of their
deterioration and in the calculation of the amounts needed to cover their credit risk.

Impairment losses on financial assets collectively evaluated for impairment

Impairment losses on financial assets collectively evaluated for impairment are calculated by using statistical
procedures, and they are deemed equivalent to the portion of losses incurred on the date that the accompanying
consolidated financial statements are prepared that has yet to be allocated to specific asset. The BBVA group
estimates losses through statistical processes that apply historical data and other specific parameters that,
although having been generated as of closing date for these consolidated financial statements, have arisen on an
individual basis following the reporting date.

The incurred loss is calculated taking into account three key factors: exposure at default, probability of default
and loss given default.

e Exposure at default (EAD) is the amount of risk exposure at the date of default by the counterparty.

e Probability of default (PD) is the probability of the counterparty failing to meet its principal and/or interest
payment obligations. The PD is associated with the rating/scoring of each counterparty/transaction. In
addition, the PD calculation includes the following parameters:

- The ‘point-intime’ parameter converts a ‘through-the-cycle’ probability of default (defined as the average
probability of default over a complete economic cycle) into the probability of default at the reporting date
(point-in-time” probability).

- The loss identification period (LIP) parameter, which is the time lag period between the occurrence of a
specific impairment or loss event and when objective evidence of impairment becomes apparent on an
individual basis; in other words, the time lag period between the loss event and the date an entity
identified its occurrence. The analysis of LIPs is performed on a homogenous portfolio basis.

A PD of 100% is assigned when a loan is considered impaired. The definition of default used includes
amounts past due by 90 days or more and cases in which there is no default but there are doubts as to the
solvency of the counterparty (subjective doubtful assets).

e Loss given default (LGD) is the estimate of the loss arising in the event of default. It depends mainly on the
characteristics of the counterparty, and the valuation of the guarantees or collateral associated with the asset.

In order to calculate the LGD at each balance sheet date, the Group evaluates the estimated cash flows from
the sale of the collateral by estimating its sale price (in the case of real estate collateral, the Group takes into
account declines in property values which could affect the value of such collateral) and its estimated cost of
sale. In the event of a default, the Group becomes contractually entitled to the property at the end of the
foreclosure process or properties purchased from borrowers in distress, and is recognized in the financial
statements. After the initial recognition of these assets classified as "Non-current assets held for sale" (see
Note 2.2.4) or "Inventories' (see Note 2.2.6), they are valued at the lower of their carrying amount and their
fair value less their estimated selling price.

As of December 31, 2014, the Group’s internal incurred losses model for credit risk shows no material
differences when compared to the provisions calculation using Bank of Spain requirements.
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Impairment of other debt instruments

The impairment losses on other debt securities included in the “Available-for-sale financial asset” portfolio are equal
to the excess of their acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment), after deducting any impairment loss
previously recognized in the consolidated income statement over their fair value.

When there is objective evidence that the negative differences arising on measurement of these assets are due to
impairment, they are no longer considered as “Valuation adjustments - Available-for-sale financial assets” and are
recognized in the consolidated income statement.

If all, or part of the impairment losses are subsequently recovered, the amount is recognized in the consolidated
income statement for the year in which the recovery occurred.

Impairment of equity instruments

The amount of the impairment in the equity instruments is determined by the category where they are
recognized:

e Fquity instruments classified as available for sale: When there is objective evidence that the negative
differences arising on measurement of these assets are due to impairment, they are no longer considered as
“Valuation adjustments - Available-for-sale financial assets” and are recognized in the consolidated income
statement. In general, the Group considers that there is objective evidence of impairment on equity
instruments classified as available-for-sale when significant unrealized losses have existed over a sustained
period of time due to a price reduction of at least 40% or over a period of more than 18 months.

When applying this evidence of impairment, the Group takes into account the volatility in the price of each
individual security to determine whether it is a percentage that can be recovered through its sale on the
market; other different thresholds may exist for certain securities or specific sectors.

In addition, for individually significant investments, the Group compares the valuation of the most significant
securities against valuations performed by independent experts.

Any recovery of previously recognized impairment losses for an investment in an equity instrument classified
as available for sale is not recognized in the consolidated income statement, but under the heading
"Valuation Adjustments - Available-for-sale financial assets" in the consolidated balance sheet (see Note 29).

e FEquity instruments measured at cost: The impairment losses on equity instruments measured at acquisition
cost are egual to the excess of their carrying amount over the present value of expected future cash flows
discounted at the market rate of return for similar equity instruments. In order to determine these impairment
losses, save for better evidence, an assessment of the equity of the investee is carried out (excluding
valuation adjustments due to cash flow hedges) based on the last approved (consolidated) balance sheet,
adjusted by the unrealized gains at measurement date.

Impairment losses are recognized in the consolidated income statement for the year in which they arise as a
direct reduction of the cost of the instrument. These losses may only be reversed subseqguently in the event
of the sale of these assets.

2.2.2 Transfers and derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

The accounting treatment of transfers of financial assets is determined by the form in which risks and benefits
associated with the financial assets involved are transferred to third parties. Thus the financial assets are only
derecognized from the consolidated balance sheet when the cash flows that they generate are extinguished, or
when their implicit risks and benefits have been substantially transferred to third parties. In the latter case, the
financial asset transferred is derecognized from the consolidated balance sheet, and any right or obligation
retained or created as a result of the transfer is simultaneously recognized.

Similarly, financial liabilities are derecognized from the consolidated balance sheet only if their obligations are
extinguished or acquired (with a view to subsequent cancellation or renewed placement).
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The Group is considered to have transferred substantially all the risks and benefits if such risks and benefits
account for the majority of the risks and benefits involved in ownership of the transferred financial assets. If
substantially all the risks and benefits associated with the transferred financial asset are retained:

e The transferred financial asset is not derecognized from the consolidated balance sheet and continues to be
measured using the same criteria as those used before the transfer.

e A financial liability is recognized at the amount eqgual to the amount received, which is subsequently
measured at amortized cost.

e Both the income generated on the transferred (but not derecognized) financial asset and the expenses of the
new financial liability continue to be recognized.

2.2.3 Financial guarantees

Financial guarantees are considered to be those contracts that require their issuer to make specific payments to
reimburse the holder of the financial guarantee for a loss incurred when a specific borrower breaches its payment
obligations on the terms - whether original or subsequently modified - of a debt instrument, irrespective of the
legal form it may take. Financial guarantees may take the form of a deposit, financial guarantee, insurance
contract or credit derivative, among others.

In their initial recognition, financial guarantees are recognized as liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet at fair
value, which is generally the present value of the fees, commissions and interest receivable from these contracts
over the term thereof, and the Group simultaneously recognize a corresponding asset in the consolidated
balance sheet for the amount of the fees and commissions received at the inception of the transactions and the
amounts receivable at the present value of the fees, commissions and interest outstanding.

Financial guarantees, irrespective of the guarantor, instrumentation or other circumstances, are reviewed
periodically so as to determine the credit risk to which they are exposed and, if appropriate, to consider whether
a provision is required for them. The credit risk is determined by application of criteria similar to those established
for quantifying impairment losses on debt instruments measured at amortized cost (see Note 2.2.1).

The provisions recognized for financial guarantees considered impaired are recognized under the heading
“Provisions - Provisions for contingent risks and commitments” on the liability side in the consolidated balance
sheets (see Note 23). These provisions are recognized and reversed with a charge or credit, respectively; to
“Provisions (net)” in the consolidated income statements (see Note 45).

Income from financial guarantee contracts is recorded under the heading “Fee and commission income” in the
consolidated income statement and is calculated by applying the rate established in the related contract to the
nominal amount of the guarantee (see 39).

2.2.4 Non-current assets held for sale and liabilities associated with non-current assets
held for sale

The heading “Non-current assets held-for-sale” in the consolidated balance sheets includes the carrying amount of
assets that are not part of the BBVA Groups operating activities. The recovery of this carrying amount is
expected to take place through the price obtained on its disposal (see Note 15).

This heading includes individual items and groups of items (“disposal groups” and disposal groups that form part
of a major operating segment and are being held for sale as part of a disposal plan (‘discontinued operations”).
The individual items include the assets received by the subsidiaries from their debtors, and those consolidated
under the proportionate consolidated method, in full or partial settlement of the debtors payment obligations
(assets foreclosed or donated in repayment of debt and recovery of lease finance transactions), unless the Group
has decided to make continued use of these assets. The BBVA Group has units that specialize in real estate
management and the sale of this type of asset.

Symmetrically, the heading “Liabilities associated with non-current assets held for sale” in the consolidated balance
sheets reflects the balances payable arising from disposal groups and discontinued operations.

Non-current assets held for sale are generally measured, at the acquisition date and at any later date deemed
necessary, at either their carrying amount or the fair value of the property (less costs to sell), whichever is lower.
The book value at acquisition date of the non-current assets held for sale from foreclosures or recoveries is
defined as the balance pending collection on those loans/credits that originated said purchases (net of provisions).
Non-current assets held for sale are not depreciated while included under this heading.
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Gains and losses generated on the disposal of assets and liabilities classified as non-current held for sale, and
related impairment losses and subsequent recoveries, where pertinent, are recognized in “Gains/(losses) on non-
current assets held for sale not classified as discontinued operations” in the consolidated income statements (see
Note 49.1). The remaining income and expense items associated with these assets and liabilities are classified
within the relevant consolidated income statement headings.

Income and expenses for discontinued operations, whatever their nature, generated during the year, even if they
have occurred before their classification as discontinued operations, are presented net of the tax effect as a single
amount under the heading “Profit from discontinued operations” in the consolidated income statement, whether
the business remains on the balance sheet or is derecognized from the balance sheet. This heading includes the
earnings from their sale or other disposal (see 49.2).

2.2.5 Tangible assets
Property, plant and equipment for own use

This heading includes the assets under ownership or acquired under lease finance, intended for future or current
use by the BBVA Group and that it expects to hold for more than one year. It also includes tangible assets
received by the consolidated entities in full or partial settlement of financial assets representing receivables from
third parties and those assets expected to be held for continuing use.

Property, plant and equipment for own use are presented in the consolidated balance sheets at acquisition cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and, where appropriate, any estimated impairment losses resulting from
comparing this net carrying amount of each item with its corresponding recoverable amount.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method, on the basis of the acquisition cost of the assets less
their residual value; the land on which the buildings and other structures stand is considered to have an indefinite
life and is therefore not depreciated.

The tangible asset depreciation charges are recognized in the accompanying consolidated income statements
under the heading "Depreciation and amortization" (see Note 44) and are based on the application of the
following depreciation rates (determined on the basis of the average years of estimated useful life of the various
assets):

Type of Assets Annual Percentage

Buildings for own use 1% - 4%
Furniture 8% -10%
Fixtures 6% -12%
Office supplies and hardware 8% -25%

The BBVA Group’s criteria for determining the recoverable amount of these assets, in particular buildings for own
use, is based on independent appraisals that are no more than 3-5 years old at most, unless there are indications
of impairment.

At each reporting date, the Group entities analyze whether there are internal or external indicators that a tangible
asset may be impaired. When there is evidence of impairment, the entity analyzes whether this impairment
actually exists by comparing the asset's net carrying amount with its recoverable amount (as the higher between
its recoverable amount less disposal costs and its value in use). When the carrying amount exceeds the
recoverable amount, the carrying amount is written down to the recoverable amount and depreciation charges
going forward are adjusted to reflect the asset’'s remaining useful life.

Similarly, if there is any indication that the value of a tangible asset has been recovered, the consolidated entities
will estimate the recoverable amounts of the asset and recognize it in the consolidated income statement,
recording the reversal of the impairment loss registered in previous years and thus adjusting future depreciation
charges. Under no circumstances may the reversal of an impairment loss on an asset raise its carrying amount
above that which it would have if no impairment losses had been recognized in prior years.

Running and maintenance expenses relating to tangible assets held for own use are recognized as an expense in

the year they are incurred and recognized in the consolidated income statements under the heading
'Administration costs - General and administrative expenses - Property, fixtures and equipment" (see Note 43.2).
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Other assets leased out under an operating lease

The criteria used to recognize the acquisition cost of assets leased out under operating leases, to calculate their
depreciation and their respective estimated useful lives and to recognize the impairment losses on them, are the
same as those described in relation to tangible assets for own use.

Investment properties

The heading “Tangible assets - Investment properties” in the consolidated balance sheets reflects the net values
(purchase cost minus the corresponding accumulated depreciation and, if appropriate, estimated impairment
losses) of the land, buildings and other structures that are held either to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
through sale and that are neither expected to be sold off in the ordinary course of business nor are destined for
own use (see Note 17).

The criteria used to recognize the acquisition cost of investment properties, calculate their depreciation and their
respective estimated useful lives and recognize the impairment losses on them, are the same as those described
in relation to tangible assets held for own use.

The BBVA Group's criteria for determining the recoverable amount of these assets is based on independent
appraisals that are no more than one year old at most, unless there are indications of impairment.

2.2.6 Inventories

The balance under the heading “Other assets - Inventories” in the consolidated balance sheets mainly includes the
land and other properties that the BBVA Group’s real estate entities hold for development and sale as part of their
real estate development activities (see Note 20).

The cost of inventories includes those costs incurred in during their acquisition and development, as well as other
direct and indirect costs incurred in getting them to their current condition and location.

In the case of real-estate assets accounted for as inventories, the cost is comprised of: the acquisition cost of the
land, the cost of urban planning and construction, non-recoverable taxes and costs corresponding to construction
supervision, coordination and management. Borrowing cost incurred during the year form part of cost, provided
that the inventories require more than a year to be in a condition to be sold.

Properties purchased from customers in distress are measured, at the acquisition date and any subsequent time,
at either their related carrying amount or the fair value of the property (less costs to sell), whichever is lower. The
carrying amount at acquisition date of these properties is defined as the balance pending collection on those
loans/credits that originated said purchases (net of provisions).

Impairment

If the fair value less costs to sell is lower than the carrying amount of the loan recognized in the balance sheet, a
loss is recognized under the heading "Impairment losses on other assets (net) - Other assets" in the consolidated
income statement for the period (see Note 47). In the case of real-estate assets accounted for as inventories, the
BBVA Group’s criterion for determining their net realizable value is mainly based on independent appraisals no
more than one year old, or less if there are indications of impairment.

The amount of any subsequent adjustment due to inventory valuation for reasons such as damage,
obsolescence, reduction in sale price to its net realizable value, as well as losses for other reasons and, if
appropriate, subsequent recoveries of value up to the limit of the initial cost value, are registered under the
heading "Impairment losses on other assets (net) - Other assets” in the accompanying consolidated income
statements (see Note 47) for the year in which they are incurred.

Inventory sales

In sale transactions, the carrying amount of inventories is derecognized from the consolidated balance sheet and
recognized as an expense under the income statement heading "Other operating expenses - Changes in
inventories” in the year in which the income from its sale is recognized. This income is recognized under the
heading “Other operating income - Financial income from non-financial services™ in the consolidated income
statements (see Note 42).
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2.2.7 Business combinations

The aim of a business combination is to obtain control of one or more businesses. It is accounted for by applying
the acquisition method.

According to this method, the acquirer has to recognize the assets acquired and the liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed, including those that the acquired entity had not recognized in the accounts. The method
involves the measurement of the consideration received for the business combination and its allocation to the
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities measured according to their fair value, at the purchase date.

In addition, the acquirer shall recognize an asset in the consolidated balance sheet under the heading “Intangible
asset - Goodwill” if on the acquisition date there is a positive difference between:

e the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of all the non-controlling interests and the fair value of
stock previously held in the acquired business; and

e the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

If this difference is negative, it shall be recognized directly in the income statement under the heading “Gain on
Bargain Purchase in business combinations’”.

Non-controlling interests in the acquired entity may be measured in two ways: either at their fair value; or at the
proportional percentage of net assets identified in the acquired entity. The method of valuing non-controlling
interest may be elected in each business combination. So far, the BBVA Group has always elected for the second
method.

The purchase of non-controlling interests subsequent to obtaining control of an entity is recognized as an equity
transaction; in other words, the difference between the consideration transferred and the carrying amount of the
percentage of non-controlling interests acquired is recorded directly to equity.

2.2.8 Intangible assets
Goodwill

Goodwill represents payment in advance by the acquiring entity for the future economic benefits from assets that
cannot be individually identified and separately recognized. It is only recognized as goodwill when the business
combinations are acquired at a price. Goodwill is never amortized. It is subject periodically to an impairment
analysis, and is written off if it is clear that there has been impairment.

Goodwill is assigned to one or more cash-generating units that expect to be the beneficiaries of the synergies
derived from the business combinations. The cash-generating units represent the Group's smallest identifiable
asset groups that generate cash flows for the Group and that are largely independent of the flows generated from
the Group’s other assets or groups of assets. Each unit or units to which goodwill is allocated:

e s the lowest level at which the entity manages goodwill internally;

e is not larger than a business segment.

The cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment (including the allocated
goodwill in their carrying amount). This analysis is performed at least annually or more frequently if there is any
indication of impairment.

For the purpose of determining the impairment of a cash-generating unit to which a part of goodwill has been
allocated, the carrying amount of that cash-generating unit, adjusted by the theoretical amount of the goodwill
attributable to the non-controlling interests, in the event they are not valued at fair value, is compared with its
recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is equal to the fair value less sale costs and its value in use,
whichever is greater. Value in use is calculated as the discounted value of the cash flow projections that the unit's
management estimates and is based on the latest budgets approved for the coming vyears. The main
assumptions used in its calculation are: a sustainable growth rate to extrapolate the cash flows indefinitely, and
the discount rate used to discount the cash flows, which is equal to the cost of the capital assigned to each cash-
generating unit, and equivalent to the sum of the risk-free rate plus a risk premium inherent to the cash-
generating unit being evaluated for impairment.
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If the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit exceeds the related recoverable amount, the Group recognizes
an impairment loss; the resulting loss is apportioned by reducing, first, the carrying amount of the goodwill
allocated to that unit and, second, if there are still impairment losses remaining to be recognized, the carrying
amount of the remainder of the assets. This is done by allocating the remaining loss in proportion to the carrying
amount of each of the assets in the unit. In the event the non-controlling interests are measured at fair value, the
deterioration of goodwill attributable to non-controlling interests will be recognized. In any case, an impairment
loss recognized for goodwill shall not be reversed in a subseguent period.

They are recognized under the heading "Impairment losses on other assets (net) - Goodwill and other intangible
assets” in the consolidated income statements (see Note 47).

Other intangible assets

These assets may have an indefinite useful life if, based on an analysis of all relevant factors, it is concluded that
there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash flows for the
consolidated entities. In all other cases they have a finite useful life.

Intangible assets with a finite useful life are amortized according to the duration of this useful life, using methods
similar to those used to depreciate tangible assets. The defined useful time intangible asset is made up mainly of
IT applications acquisition costs which have a useful life of 3 to 5 years. Intangible assets with a finite useful life
are mainly composed by the purchase of software applications, which have a useful life between 3 and 5 years.

The depreciation charge of these assets is recognized in the accompanying consolidated income statements
under the heading "Depreciation and amortization" (see 44).

The consolidated entities recognize any impairment loss on the carrying amount of these assets with charge to
the heading “Impairment losses on other assets (net) - Goodwill and other intangible assets” in the accompanying
consolidated income statements (see Note 47). The criteria used to recognize the impairment losses on these
assets and, where applicable, the recovery of impairment losses recognized in prior years, are similar to those
used for tangible assets.

2.2.9 Insurance and reinsurance contracts

The assets of the BBVA Group’s insurance subsidiaries are recognized according to their nature under the
corresponding headings of the consolidated balance sheets and the initial recognition and valuation is carried out
according to the criteria set out in IFRS 4.

The heading “Reinsurance assets” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets includes the amounts that
the consolidated entities are entitled to receive under the reinsurance contracts entered into by them with third
parties and, more specifically, the share of the reinsurer in the technical provisions recognized by the
consolidated insurance entities.

The heading “Liabilities under insurance contracts” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets includes the
technical provisions for direct insurance and inward reinsurance recognized by the consolidated entities to cover
claims arising from insurance contracts in force at period-end (see Note 22).

The income or expenses reported by the BBVA Group's insurance entities on their insurance activities is
recognized, attending to its nature, in the corresponding items of the consolidated income statements.

The consolidated insurance entities of the BBVA Group recognize the amounts of the premiums written to the
income statement and a charge for the estimated cost of the claims that will be incurred at their final settlement
to their income statements. At the close of each year the amounts collected and unpaid, as well as the costs
incurred and unpaid, are accrued.

The most significant provisions registered by consolidated insurance entities with respect to insurance policies
issued by them are set out by their nature in Note 22.

According to the type of product, the provisions may be as follows:

e Life insurance provisions:

Represents the value of the net obligations undertaken with the life insurance policyholder. These provisions
include:
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- Provisions for unearned premiums. These are intended for the accrual, at the date of calculation, of the
premiums written. Their balance reflects the portion of the premiums accrued until the closing date that
has to be allocated to the period from the closing date to the end of the insurance policy period.

- Mathematical reserves: Represents the value of the life insurance obligations of the insurance entities at
year-end, net of the policyholder's obligations, arising from life insurance contracted.

¢ Non-life insurance provisions:

- Provisions for unearned premiums. These provisions are intended for the accrual, at the date of
calculation, of the premiums written. Their balance reflects the portion of the premiums accrued until
year-end that has to be allocated to the period between the year-end and the end of the policy period.

- Provisions for unexpired risks: The provision for unexpired risks supplements the provision for unearned
premiums by the amount by which that provision is not sufficient to reflect the assessed risks and
expenses to be covered by the insurance entities in the policy period not elapsed at year-end.

e Provision for claims:

This reflects the total amount of the outstanding obligations arising from claims incurred prior to year-end.
Insurance entities calculate this provision as the difference between the total estimated or certain cost of the
claims not yet reported, settled or paid, and the total amounts already paid in relation to these claims.

e Provision for bonuses and rebates:

This provision includes the amount of the bonuses accruing to policyholders, insurees or beneficiaries and
the premiums to be returned to policyholders or insurees, as the case may be, based on the behavior of the
risk insured, to the extent that such amounts have not been individually assigned to each of them.

e Technical provisions for reinsurance ceded:

Calculated by applying the criteria indicated above for direct insurance, taking account of the assignment
conditions established in the reinsurance contracts in force.

e QOther technical provisions:

Insurance entities have recognized provisions to cover the probable mismatches in the market reinvestment
interest rates with respect to those used in the valuation of the technical provisions.

The BBVA Group controls and monitors the exposure of the insurance entities to financial risk and, to this end,
uses internal methods and tools that enable it to measure credit risk and market risk and to establish the limits for
these risks.

2.2.10 Tax assets and liabilities

Expenses on corporate income tax applicable to the BBVA Group’s Spanish entities and on similar income taxes
applicable to consolidated foreign entities are recognized in the consolidated income statement, except when
they result from transactions on which the profits or losses are recognized directly in equity, in which case the
related tax effect is also recognized in equity.

The total corporate income tax expense is calculated by aggregating the current tax arising from the application
of the corresponding tax rate to the tax for the year (after deducting the tax credits allowable for tax purposes)
and the change in deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized in the consolidated income statement.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities include temporary differences, defined as the amounts to be payable or
recoverable in future years arising from the differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities and
their tax bases (the “tax value”), and tax loss and tax credit carry forwards. These amounts are calculated by
applying to each temporary difference the income tax rate that is expected to be applied when the asset is
realized or the liability settled (see Note 19).

The "Tax Assets' chapter of the accompanying consolidated balance sheets includes the amount of all the assets
of a tax nature, and distinguishes between: "Current” (@amounts recoverable by tax in the next twelve months) and
"‘Deferred" (covering taxes recoverable in future years, including loss carry forwards or tax credits for deductions
and tax rebates pending application).
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The "Tax Liabilities" line item in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets includes the amount of all the
liabilities of a tax nature, except for provisions for taxes, broken down into: "Current” (income tax payable on
taxable profit for the year and other taxes payable in the next twelve months) and "Deferred" (income taxes
payable in subseqguent years).

Deferred tax liabilities attributable to taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates or joint venture entities are recognized as such, except where the Group can control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is unlikely that it will reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is considered probable that the consolidated entities will
have sufficient taxable profits in the future against which the deferred tax assets can be utilized and are not from
the initial recognition (except in the case of a business combination) of other assets or liabilities in a transaction
that does not affect the fiscal outcome or the accounting result.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized are reassessed by the consolidated entities at each balance
sheet date in order to ascertain whether they are still current, and the appropriate adjustments are made on the
basis of the findings of the analyses performed.

The income and expenses directly recognized in equity that do not increase or decrease taxable income are
accounted for as temporary differences.

2.2.11 Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilities

The heading “Provisions” in the consolidated balance sheets includes amounts recognized to cover the BBVA
Group’s current obligations arising as a result of past events. These are certain in terms of nature but uncertain in
terms of amount and/or settlement date. The settlement of these obligations is deemed likely to entail an outflow
of resources embodying economic benefits (see Note 23). The obligations may arise in connection with legal or
contractual provisions, valid expectations formed by Group entities relative to third parties in relation to the
assumption of certain responsibilities or through virtually certain developments of particular aspects of the
regulations applicable to the operation of the entities; and, specifically, future legislation to which the Group will
certainly be subject.

The provisions are recognized in the consolidated balance sheets when each and every one of the following
reguirements is met:

e They represent a current obligation that has arisen from a past event;

e At the date referred to by the consolidated financial statements, there is more probability that the obligation
will have to be met than that it will not;

e |t is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation; and

* The amount of the obligation can be reasonably estimated.

Among other items, these provisions include the commitments made to employees by some of the Group
entities (mentioned in section 2.2.12), as well as provisions for tax and legal litigation.

Contingent assets are possible assets that arise from past events and whose existence is conditional on, and will
be confirmed only by, the occurrence or non-occurrence of events beyond the control of the Group. Contingent
assets are not recognized in the consolidated balance sheet or in the consolidated income statement; however,
they are disclosed in the Notes to the financial statements, provided that it is probable that these assets will give
rise to an increase in resources embodying economic benefits.

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations of the Group that arise from past events and whose existence is
conditional on the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events beyond the control of the entity.
They also include the existing obligations of the entity when it is not probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle them; or when, in extremely rare cases, their amount
cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

2.2.12 Pensions and other post-employment commitments
Below is a description of the most significant accounting criteria relating to the commitments to employees, in

terms of post-employment benefits and other long-term commitments, of certain BBVA Group entities in Spain
and abroad (see Note 24).
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Commitments valuation: assumptions and actuarial gains/losses recognition

The present values of the commitments are quantified based on an individual member data. For current
employees costs are calculated using the projected unit credit method, which sees each period of service as
giving rise to an additional unit of benefit/commitment and measures each unit separately to build up the final
obligation.

The actuarial assumptions should take into account that:

e They are unbiased, in that they are not unduly aggressive nor excessively conservative.

* They are compatible with each other and adequately reflect the existing economic relations between factors
such as inflation, foreseeable wage increases, discount rates and the expected return on plan assets, etc. The
future levels of wages and benefits are based on market expectations at the consolidated balance sheet date
for the period over which the obligations are to be settled.

* The rate used to discount the commitments is determined by reference to market yields at the date referred
to by the consolidated financial statements on high quality bonds.

The BBVA Group recognizes actuarial differences originating in the commitments assumed with staff taking early
retirement, benefits awarded for seniority and other similar items under the heading “Provisions (net)” of the
consolidated income statement for the period in which these differences occur (see Note 45). The BBVA Group
recognizes the actuarial gains or losses arising on all other defined-benefit post-employment commitments
directly under the heading "Valuation adjustments - Other valuation adjustments” of equity in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets (see Note 30).

Post-employment benefit commitments
Pensions
The BBVA Group’s post-employment benefit commitments are either defined-contribution or defined-benefit.

e Defined-contribution commitments: The amounts of these commitments are established as a percentage of
certain remuneration items and/or as a fixed pre-established amount. The contributions made in each period
by the BBVA Group’s entities for these commitments are recognized with a charge to the heading “Personnel
expenses - Defined-contribution plan expense” in the consolidated income statements (see Note 43.1).

e Defined-benefit commitrments: Some of the BBVA Group’s entities have defined-benefit commitments for the
permanent disability and death of certain current employees and early retirees, as well as defined-benefit
retirement commitments applicable only to certain groups of current employees, or employees taking early
retirement and retired employees. These commitments are either funded by insurance contracts or
recognized as internal provisions.

The amounts recognized under the heading “Provisions - Provisions for pensions and similar obligations” are the
differences, at the date of the consolidated financial statements, between the present values of the commitments
for defined-benefit commitments, adjusted by the past service cost, and the fair value of plan assets (see Note
23).

The current contributions made by the Group’s entities for defined-benefit commitments covering current
employees are charged to the heading “Administration cost - Personnel expenses” in the accompanying
consolidated income statements (see Note 43.1).

Early retirement

The BBVA Group has offered certain employees in Spain the option of taking early retirement (that is earlier than
the age stipulated in the collective labor agreement in force) and has recognized the corresponding provisions to
cover the cost of the commitments acquired for this item. The present values of early retirement obligations are
quantified based on an individual member data and are recognized under the heading “Provisions - Provisions for
pensions and similar obligations” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets (see Note 23).

The early retirement commitments in Spain include the compensation and indemnities and contributions to

external pension funds payable during the period of early retirement. The commitments relating to this group of
employees after they have reached normal retirement age are dealt with in the same way as pensions.
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Other post-employment welfare benefits

Some of the BBVA Group’s entities have welfare benefit commitments whose effects extend beyond the
retirement of the employees entitled to the benefits. These commitments relate to certain current employees and
retirees, depending upon the employee group to which they belong.

The present values of post-employment welfare benefits are quantified based on an individual member data and
are recognized under the heading “Provisions - Provisions for pensions and similar obligations” in the consolidated
balance sheets (see Note 23).

Other long-term commitments to employees

Some of the BBVA Group’s entities are obliged to deliver goods and services to groups of employees. The most
significant of these, in terms of the type of compensation and the event giving rise to the commitments, are as
follows: loans to employees, life insurance, study assistance and long-service awards.

Some of these commitments are measured using actuarial studies, so that the present values of the vested
obligations for commitments with personnel are quantified based on an individual member data. They are
recognized under the heading “Provisions - Other provisions” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
(see Note 23).

The cost of these benefits provided by Spanish entities in the BBVA Group to active employees are recognized
under the heading “Personnel expenses - Other personnel expenses” in the consolidated income statements (see
Note 43.1).

Other commitments for current employees accrue and are settled on a yearly basis, so it is not necessary to
register a provision in this regard.

2.2.13 Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Provided they constitute the delivery of such instruments following the completion of a specific period of services,
equity-settled share-based payment transactions are recognized as an expense for services being provided by
employees, by way of a balancing entry under the heading “Stockholders” equity - Other eqguity instruments” in
the consolidated balance sheet. These services are measured at fair value, unless such fair value cannot be
calculated reliably. In such case, they are measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments
committed, taking into account the date on which the commitments were made and the terms and other
conditions included in the commitments.

When the initial compensation agreement includes what may be considered market conditions among its terms,
any changes in these conditions will not be reflected in the consolidated income statement, as these have already
been accounted for in calculating the initial fair value of the equity instruments. Non-market vesting conditions are
not taken into account when estimating the initial fair value of instruments, but they are taken into account when
determining the number of instruments to be granted. This will be recognized on the consolidated income
statement with the corresponding increase in equity.

2.2.14 Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognized in the accounts when the BBVA Group agrees to terminate employment
contracts with its employees and has established a detailed plan.

2.2.15 Treasury stock

The value of equity instruments issued by the BBVA Group’s entities and held by them - basically, shares and
derivatives on the Bank’s shares held by some consolidated entities that comply with the requirements to be
recognized as equity instruments - are recognized as a decrease to net equity, under the heading "Stockholders’
funds - Treasury stock" in the consolidated balance sheets (see Note 28).

These financial assets are recognized at acquisition cost, and the gains or losses arising on their disposal are

credited or debited, as appropriate, to the heading “Stockholders’ funds - Reserves” in the consolidated balance
sheets (see Note 27).
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2.2.16 Foreign-currency transactions and exchange differences

The BBVA Group’'s functional currency, and thus the currency in which the consolidated financial statements are
presented, is the euro. All balances and transactions denominated in currencies other than the euro are deemed
to be denominated in “foreign currency”.

Conversion to euros of the balances held in foreign currency is performed in two consecutive stages:

e Conversion of the foreign currency to the functional currency (currency of the main economic environment
in which the entity operates); and

e Conversion to euros of the balances held in the functional currencies of the entities whose functional
currency is not the euro.

Conversion of the foreign currency to the functional currency

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies carried out by the consolidated entities (or accounted for using
the equity method) not based in European Monetary Union countries are initially accounted for in their respective
currencies. Subsequently, the monetary balances in foreign currencies are converted to their respective
functional currencies using the exchange rate at the close of the financial year.

In addition,

* Non-monetary items valued at their historical cost are converted to the functional currency at the exchange
rate in force on the purchase date.

« Non-monetary items valued at their fair value are converted at the exchange rate in force on the date on
which such fair value was determined.

e Income and expenses are converted at the period's average exchange rates for all the operations carried out
during the period. When applying this criterion the BBVA Group considers whether significant variations have
taken place in exchange rates during the financial year which, owing to their impact on the statements as a
whole, require the application of exchange rates as of the date of the transaction instead of such average
exchange rates.

The exchange differences produced when converting the balances in foreign currency to the functional currency
of the consolidated entities and their subsidiaries are generally recognized under the heading "Exchange
differences (net)" in the consolidated income statements. However, the exchange differences in non-monetary
items, measured at fair value, are recognized temporarily in equity under the heading “Valuation adjustments -
Exchange differences” in the consolidated balance sheets.

Conversion of functional currencies to euros

The balances in the financial statements of consolidated entities whose functional currency is not the euro are
converted to euros as follows:

e Assets and liabilities: at the average spot exchange rates as of the date of each of the consolidated financial
statements.

* Income and expenses and cash flows are converted by applying the exchange rate in force on the date of
the transaction, and the average exchange rate for the financial year may be used, unless it has undergone
significant variations.

e Equity items: at the historical exchange rates.

The exchange differences arising from the conversion to euros of balances in the functional currencies of the
consolidated entities whose functional currency is not the euro are recognized under the heading “Valuation
adjustments - Exchange differences” in the consolidated balance sheets. Meanwhile, the differences arising from
the conversion to euros of the financial statements of entities accounted for by the equity method are recognized
under the heading "Valuation adjustments - Entities accounted for using the equity method" until the item to
which they relate is derecognized, at which time they are recognized in the income statement.
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The breakdown of the main consolidated balances in foreign currencies as of December 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012, with reference to the most significant foreign currencies, is set forth in Appendix VII.

With regards to the exchanged rates used to convert the financial statements of the Group in Venezuela into
Euros, we note that for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Bolivar fuerte venezolano was
applied; while for 2014 the Exchange rate used was that fixed by the SICAD | (Spanish acronym for Foreign
currency administration complementary system). Through this system, the Exchange rate for the U.S. Dollar will
be fixed in open auctions for both individuals or companies, resulting in an exchange rate that will fluctuate from
auction to auction and which will be published in the SICAD web page.

The Exchange rates used for December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 were:

Average Exchange Rates Year-End Exchange Rates
Currency m 2013 2012 m 2013 2012
Venezuelan bolivar (*) 14.78 8.05 5.52 14.57 8.68 5.66

* The official exchange rate of the Venezuelan Bolivar was used in the consolidated financial statements of 2013,
reflecting the devaluation of this currency during 2013.

During 2014, the Venezuelan government established a new type of auction called SICAD Il, however credit
institutions do not have the possibility of attending to acquire foreign currencies. During the month of January
2015, the Venezuelan government stated that their Exchange rate system will change again and that there could
be a new currency devaluation due to the situation related to the oil prices. As of the date of completion of these
consolidated financial statements, there had been no currency devaluation or modification to the Exchange rate
system.

2.2.17 Recognition of income and expenses
The most significant criteria used by the BBVA Group to recognize its income and expenses are as follows.

e Interest income and expenses and similar items:

As a general rule, interest income and expenses and similar items are recognized on the basis of their period
of accrual using the effective interest rate method. The financial fees and commissions that arise on the
arrangement of loans and advances (basically origination and analysis fees) are deferred and recognized in
the income statement over the expected life of the loan. The direct costs incurred in originating these loans
and advances can be deducted from the amount thus recognized. These fees are part of the effective rate
for loans. Also dividends received from other entities are recognized as income when the consolidated
entities’ right to receive them arises.

However, when a debt instrument is deemed to be impaired individually or is included in the category of
instruments that are impaired because their recovery is considered to be remote, the recognition of accrued
interest in the consolidated income statement is discontinued. This interest is recognized for accounting
purposes as income, as soon as it is received.

e Commissions, fees and similar items:

Income and expenses relating to commissions and similar fees are recognized in the consolidated income
statement using criteria that vary according to the nature of such items. The most significant items in this
connection are:

- Those relating to financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss, which are
recognized when collected/paid.

- Those arising from transactions or services that are provided over a period of time, which are recognized
over the life of these transactions or services.

- Those relating to single acts, which are recognized when this single act is carried out.
¢ Non-financial income and expenses:

These are recognized for accounting purposes on an accrual basis.
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e Deferred collections and payments:

These are recognized for accounting purposes at the amount resulting from discounting the expected cash
flows at market rates.

2.2.18 Sales and income from the provision of non-financial services

The heading “Other operating income - Financial income from non-financial services” in the consolidated income
statements includes the carrying amount of the sales of assets and income from the services provided by the
Group entities that are not financial institutions. In the case of the Group, these entities are mainly real estate and
service entities (see Note 42).

2.2.19 Leases

Lease contracts are classified as finance leases from the inception of the transaction, if they substantially transfer
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the asset forming the subject-matter of the contract. Leases
other than finance leases are classified as operating leases.

When the consolidated entities act as the lessor of an asset in finance leases, the aggregate present values of the
lease payments receivable from the lessee plus the guaranteed residual value (normally the exercise price of the
lessee’s purchase option on expiration of the lease agreement) are recognized as financing provided to third
parties and, therefore, are included under the heading “Loans and receivables” in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets.

When the consolidated entities act as lessors of an asset in operating leases, the acquisition cost of the leased
assets is recognized under "Tangible assets - Property, plant and equipment - Other assets leased out under an
operating lease" in the consolidated balance sheets (see Note 17). These assets are depreciated in line with the
criteria adopted for items of tangible assets for own use, while the income arising from the lease arrangements is
recognized in the consolidated income statements on a straight-line basis within "Other operating expenses -
Other of other operating expenses" (see Note 42).

If a fair value sale and leaseback results in an operating lease, the profit or loss generated by the sale is
recognized in the consolidated income statement at the time of sale. If such a transaction gives rise to a finance
lease, the corresponding gains or losses are amortized over the lease period.

The assets leased out under operating lease contracts to other entities in the Group are treated in the
consolidated financial statements as for own use, and thus rental expense and income is eliminated and the
corresponding depreciation is recognize.

2.2.20 Entities and branches located in countries with hyperinflationary economies

In order to assess whether an economy is under hyperinflation, the country’s economic environment is evaluated,
analyzing whether certain circumstances exist, such as:

e The country’s population prefers to keep its wealth or savings in non-monetary assets or in a relatively stable
foreign currency;

e Prices may be quoted in that currency;
e Interest rates, wages and prices are linked to a price index;

e The cumulative inflation rate over three years is approaching, or exceeds, 100%.

The fact that any of these circumstances is present will not be a decisive factor in considering an economy
hyperinflationary, but it does provide some reasons to consider it as such.
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Since 2009, the economy of Venezuela can be considered hyperinflationary under the above criteria. As a result,
the financial statements of the BBVA Group’s entities located in Venezuela have therefore been adjusted to
correct for the effects of inflation (see Note 3). In accordance with IAS 29, the breakdown of the General Price
Index is as follows:

General Price Index as of December 31 2014 (*) 2013 2012

GPI 834.80 498.10 318.90
Average GPI 658.28 406.17 288.80
Inflation of the period 67.70% 56.19% 20.07%

(*)  Provisional data

As of December 31, 2014, the losses recognized under the heading “Profit attributable to the parent company” in
the accompanying consolidated income statement as a result of the adjustment for inflation on net monetary
position of the Group entities in Venezuela amounted to €306 million

2.3 Recent IFRS pronouncements
Changes introduced in 2014

The following modifications to the IFRS standards or their interpretations (hereinafter “IFRIC") came into force after
January 1, 2014. They have not had a significant impact on the BBVA Group’s consolidated financial statements
corresponding to the period ended December 31, 2014.

Amended IAS 32 - “Financial Instruments: Presentation”
The changes made to IAS 32 clarify the following aspects on asset and liability offsetting:

e The legal right to net recognized amounts must not depend on a future event and must be legally
enforceable under all circumstances, including cases of default or insolvency of either party.

e Settlements in which the following conditions are met shall be accepted as equivalent to “settlements for net
amount™: all, or practically all of the credit and liquidity risk is eliminated; and the settlement of the assets and
liabilities is carried out in a single settlement process.

Amended IFRS 10 - “Consolidated Financial Statements”, Amended IFRS 12 - “Disclosure of interests in other
entities” and Amended IAS 27 - “Consolidated and separate financial statements”

The changes to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 define investment entities and provide an exception to the
consolidation requirements requiring investment entities to measure particular subsidiaries at fair value through
profit or loss, rather than consolidate them as per IFRS 9.

However, the parent company of an investment entity must consolidate all entities under its control, including
those controlled through an investment entity, unless the parent company is also an investment entity.

Furthermore, these amendments include new disclosures that will allow the users of such information to evaluate
the nature and financial impact of these investments made through investment entities.

IFRIC 21 “Levies”

This Interpretation addresses the accounting for a liability to pay a levy if that tax liability is within the scope of IAS
37. It also addresses the accounting for a liability to pay a levy whose timing and amount is certain.

The obligating event that gives rise to a tax liability to pay a levy is the activity that triggers the payment of the
levy, as identified by the legislation. If the activity that triggers the payment of the levy occurs over a period of
time, the liability to pay a levy is recognized progressively; if the obligation to pay a levy is triggered when a
minimum threshold activity is reached, such as a minimum amount of revenue or sales generated or outputs
produced, the liability to pay a levy is recognized when that minimum threshold is reached.
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This interpretation does not apply to taxes that are within the scope of other Standards (such as income taxes
that are within the scope of IAS 12 Income Taxes) and to fines or other penalties that are imposed for breaches
of the legislation.

The European Union adopted IFRIC 21 and came into effect on June 17, 2014, though early adoption is
allowed. Thus, the BBVA Group opted to adopt IFRIC 21 early (see Note 1.3).

Amended IAS 36 - “Impairment of Assets”

The previous |AS 36 required an entity to disclose the recoverable amount for each cash-generating unit for
which the carrying amount of goodwill or intangible assets with indefinite useful lives allocated to that unit, is
significant in comparison with the entity’s total carrying amount of goodwill or intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives.

The changes made to IAS 36 remove that requirement and introduce the reguirement to disclose information
about the recoverable amount of assets (including goodwill and cash generating units) for which an impairment
loss has been recognized or reversed during the period.

The amendments also require additional information about the fair value measurement when the recoverable
amount of impaired assets is based on fair value less costs of disposal.

Amended IAS 39 - “Financial Instruments: Recognition and measurement. Novation of Derivatives and
Continuation of Hedge Accounting”

The new IAS 39 introduces an exception to the requirement to discontinue hedge accounting for those novations
that, as a consequence of a change in law or regulation, replace the original counterparty of the hedging
instrument for a central counterparty or another entity, such as a clearing house, as long as the change does not
result in changes to the terms of the original derivative other than changes directly attributable to the change in
counterparty.

Annual improvements cycle to IFRSs 2010-2012 - Minor modifications to IFRS 2 and IFRS 3

The annual project cycle to IFRSs 2010-2012 introduces small modifications and clarifications when interpreting
IFRS 2 - Vesting Conditions and IFRS 3 - Business combinations. These changes apply to transactions and
business combinations carried out from July 1, 2014.

Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective as of December 31, 2014

New International Financial Reporting Standards together with their interpretations had been published at the date
of preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements, but are not obligatory as of December 31,
2014. Although in some cases the IASB permits early adoption before they come into force, the BBVA Group has
not done so as of this date, as it is still analyzing the effects that will result from them.

IFRS 9 - “Financial instruments”

As of July, 24, 2014, IASB has issued the IFRS 9 which will replace IAS 39. The new standard introduces
significant differences with respect to the current regulation with regards to financial assets; among others, the
approval of a new classification model based on two single categories of amortized cost and fair value, the
elimination of the current “Held-to-maturity-investments”™ and “Available-for-sale financial assets” categories,
impairment analyses only for assets measured at amortized cost and non-separation of embedded derivatives in
contracts of financial assets.

With regard to financial liabilities, the classification categories proposed by IFRS 9 are similar to those contained in
IAS 39, so there should not be very significant differences save for the requirement to recognize changes in fair
value related to own credit risk as a component of equity, in the case of financial liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss. Hedge accounting requirements also differs from the current IAS 39 due to the new focus
on the economic risk management.

The IASB has established January 1, 2018, as the mandatory application date, with the possibility of early
adoption.

IFRS 7 amended - “Financial instruments: Disclosures”

The IASB modified IFRS 7 in December 2017 to include new disclosures on financial instruments that entities will
have to provide as soon as they apply IFRS 9 for the first time.
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Amended IAS 19 - "Employee Benefits. Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions”

The new IAS 19 amends the accounting reguirements for contributions to defined benefit plans to permit to
recognize these contributions as a reduction in the service cost in the same period where they are paid if they
meet certain requirements, without the need for calculations to attribute the contributions to the periods of
service.

These modifications will be applied to the accounting years starting on or after July 1, 2014, although early
adoption is permitted.

Annual Improvements cycle to IFRSs 2010-2012- laminar changes to IFRS 8, IFRS 13, IAS 16, IAS 24 and
IAS 38

Annual Improvements cycle to IFRSs 2010-2012 introduces small modifications and clarifications to IFRS 8 -
Operating Segments, IFRS 13 - Fair Value Measurement, IAS 16 - Property, Plant and Equipment, IAS 24 -
Related Party Disclosures and IAS 38 - Intangible Assets which will be applied to the accounting years starting on
or after July 1, 2014, although early adoption is permitted.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle introduces small modifications and clarifications to IFRS 1 -
Firsttime Adoption of IFRSs, IFRS 3 - Business Combinations, IFRS 13 - Fair Value Measurement and IAS 40 -
Investment Property.

These modifications will be applied to the accounting years starting on or after July 1, 2014, although early
adoption is permitted.

Amended IFRS 11 - “Joint Arrangements”

The amendments made to IFRS 11 require the acquirer of an interest in a joint operation in which the activity
constitutes a business to apply all of the principles on business combinations accounting in IFRS 3 and other
IFRSs. These modifications will be applied to the accounting years starting on or after January 1, 2016, although
early adoption is permitted.

Amended IAS 16 - “Property, Plant and Equipment” and Amended IAS 38 - “Intangible Assets”.

The amendments made to IAS 16 and IAS 38 exclude, as general rule, as depreciation method to be used,
those methods based on revenue that is generated by an activity that includes the use of an asset, because the
revenue generated by an activity that includes the use of an asset generally reflects factors other than the
consumption of the economic benefits of the asset.

These modifications will be applied to the accounting years starting on or after January 1, 2016, although early
adoption is permitted.

IFRS 15 - “Revenue from contracts with customers”

IFRS 15 contains the principles that an entity shall apply to account for revenue and cash flows arising from a
contract with a customer.

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that a company should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to the customer in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the company expects to
be entitled in exchange for those goods or services, in accordance with contractually agreed. It is considered that
the good or service is transferred when the customer obtains control over it.

The new Standard replaces IAS 18 - Revenue IAS 11 - Construction Contracts, IFRIC 13 - Customer Loyalty
Programmes, IFRIC 15 - Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18 - Transfers of Assets from
Customers and SIC 31 - Revenue-Transactions Involving Advertising Services

This Standard will be applied to the accounting years starting on or after January 1, 2017, although early
adoption is permitted.
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IAS 27 Amended - “Separate financial statements”

Changes to IAS 27 allow entities to use the equity method to account for investment in subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associates, in their separate financial statements.

These changes will be applicable to accounting periods beginning January 1, 2016, although early adoption is
permitted.

IFRS 10 amended - “Consolidated financial statements” and IAS 28 amended

The amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 establish that when an entity sells or transfers assets are considered a
business (including its consolidated subsidiaries) to an associate or joint venture of the entity, the latter will have
to recognize any gains or losses derived from such transaction in its entirety. Notwithstanding, if the assets sold
or transferred are not considered a business, the entity will have to recognize the gains or losses derived only to
the extent of the interests in the associate or joint venture with unrelated investors.

These changes will be applicable to accounting periods beginning January 1, 2016, although early adoption is
allowed.

Annual improvements cycle to IFRSs 2012-2014

The annual improvements cycle to IFRSs 2011-2013 includes minor changes and clarifications to IFRS 5 - Non
current assets held for sale and discontinued operations, IFRS 7 - Financial instruments: Information to disclose,
IAS 19 - Employee benefits and IAS 34 - interim financial information.

These changes will be applicable to accounting periods beginning January 1, 2016, although early adoption is
allowed.

Amended IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements

The amendments made to IAS 1 further encourage companies to apply professional judgment in determining
what information to disclose in their financial statements, in determining when line items are disaggregated and
additional headings and subtotals included in the statement of financial position and the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, and in determining where and in what order information is presented in the
financial disclosures.

These modifications will be applied to the accounting years starting on or after January 1, 2016, although early
adoption is permitted.

IFRS 10 - “Consolidated Financial Statements”, Amended IFRS 12 - “Disclosure of interests in other entities”
and Amended IAS 28 - “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures”

The amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 introduce clarifications to the requirements when accounting
for investment entities in three aspects:

The amendments confirm that a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an investment entity has the
possibility to apply the exemption from preparing consolidated financial statements

The amendments clarify that if an investment entity has a subsidiary whose main purpose is to support
the investment entity’s investment activities by providing investment-related services or activities, to the
entity or other parties, and that is not itself an investment entity, it shall consolidate that subsidiary; but if
that subsidiary is itself an investment entity, the investment entity parent shall measure the subsidiary at
fair value through profit or loss.

The amendments require a non-investment entity investor to retain, when applying the equity method,
the fair value measurement applied by an investment entity associate or joint venture to its interests in
subsidiaries.

These modifications will be applied to the accounting years starting on or after January 1, 2016, although early
adoption is permitted.
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3. BBVA Group

The BBVA Group is an international diversified financial group with a significant presence in retail banking,
wholesale banking, asset management and private banking. The Group also operates in other sectors such as
insurance, real estate, operational leasing, etc.

Appendices | and Il provide relevant information as of December 31, 2014 on the Group's subsidiaries,
consolidated structured entities, and investments and joint venture entities accounted for by the equity method.
Appendix Il shows the main changes in investments for the year ended December 31, 2014, and Appendix IV
gives details of the subsidiaries under the full consolidation method and which, based on the information
available, are more than 10% owned by non-Group shareholders as of December 31, 2014.

The following table sets forth information related to the Group’s total assets as of December 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012 broken down by the Group’s entities according to their activity:

Millions of Euros

Contribution to Consolidated Group.

Entities by Main Activities m 2013 2012
Banks and other financial services 603,046 556,416 593,884
Insurance and pension fund managing companies 23,452 20,023 20,481
Other non-financial services 5,445 6,258 6,766

Total 631,942 582,697 621,132

The total assets and earnings as of December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 broken down by the geographical
areas in which the BBVA Group operates, are included in Note 6.

The BBVA Group’s activities are mainly located in Spain, Mexico, South America and the United States, with an
active presence in other countries, as shown below:

e Spain

The Group’s activity in Spain is mainly through Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria, S.A., which is the parent
company of the BBVA Group. The Group also has other entities that operate in Spain’s banking sector, insurance
sector, real estate sector, services and as operational leasing entities.

e Mexico

The BBVA Group operates in Mexico, not only in the banking sector, but also in the insurance sector through
Grupo Financiero Bancomer.

e South America

The BBVA Group’s activities in South America are mainly focused on the banking and insurance sectors, in the
following countries: Argentina, Chile, Colombia, Peru, Paraguay, Uruguay and Venezuela. It has a representative
office in Sao Paulo (Brazil).

The Group owns more than 50% of most of the entities based in these countries. Appendix | shows a list of the
entities which, although less than 50% owned by the BBVA Group as of December 31, 2014, are fully
consolidated (see Note 2.1).

e United States

The Group’s activity in the United States is mainly carried out through a group of entities with BBVA Compass
Bancshares, Inc. at their head, the New York branch and a representative office in Silicon Valley (California).

e Turkey
Since 20711, the BBVA Group maintains 25.01% of the share capital of the Turkish bank Turkiye Garanti Bankasi,
AS (hereinafter, "Garanti’, see the following heading “Ongoing operations”). Garanti heads up a group of banking

and financial institutions that operate in Turkey, Holland and some countries in Eastern Europe. BBVA also has a
representative office in Istanbul.
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e Rest of Europe

The Group’s activity in Europe is carried out through banks and financial institutions in Ireland, Switzerland, Italy
and Portugal, branches in Germany, Belgium, France, Italy and the United Kingdom, and a representative office
in Moscow.

e Asia-Pacific

The Group's activity in this region is carried out through branches (in Taipei, Seoul, Tokyo, Hong Kong Singapore
and Shanghai) and representative offices (in Beijing, Mumbai, Abu Dhabi, Sydney and Jakarta).

Ongoing operations
Investments
New agreement for the acquisition of an additional 14.9% of Garanti

On November 19, 20174 BBVA Group entered into a new agreement with Dogus Holding A.S., Ferit Faik Sahenk,
Dianne Sahenk and Defne Sahenk (‘Dogus”) for the acquisition of 62,538,000,000 shares of Garanti at a
maximum total consideration of 8.90 Turkish Liras per share, which is equal to 5,566 million of Turkish liras.

Completion of the acquisition and the entry into force of the new agreement are conditional on the obtaining of
all necessary regulatory consents from the relevant Turkish, Spanish, European Union and, if applicable, other
jurisdictions’ regulatory authorities. After the acquisition of the new shares, the stake of the BBVA Group in
Garanti will be 39.9%.

In accordance with EU-IFRS, as a conseguence of the implementation of the new agreement, the BBVA Group
shall value its current stake in Garanti (which is classified at present as a joint venture accounted for using the
equity method) at fair value and shall fully consolidate Garanti in the consolidated financial statements of the
BBVA Group as from the date of the actual acquisition of control foreseen during 2015, subject to obtaining the
abovementioned regulatory consents.

The date of announcement of the agreement the estimated negative impact in the attributable profit of the
consolidated financial statements of the BBVA Group was approximately €1,500 million. As of the most recent
date to the date of completion of these consolidated financial statements, the update of the estimated negative
impact in the attributable profit of the consolidated financial statements of the BBVA Group was approximately
€1,250 million, basically being affected by the exchange differences due to the depreciation of the Turkish lira
against euro since initial acquisition. These exchange differences are already registered as Other Comprehensive
Income deducting the stock shareholder’s equity of the BBVA Group. Such accounting impact does not translate
into any additional cash outflow from BBVA.

Catalunya Banc competitive auction

On July 21, 2014, the Management Commission of the Banking Restructuring Fund (known as “FROB") accepted
BBVA s bid in the competitive auction for the acquisition of Catalunya Banc, S.A. (“Catalunya Banc”.

As a consequence, BBVA has executed a sale and purchase agreement with FROB, by virtue of which FROB will
sell up to 100% of the shares of Catalunya Banc to BBVA for the price of up to €1,187 million.

The price will be reduced in an amount equal to €267 million provided that, prior to the effective closing of the
transaction, FROB and Catalunya Banc do not obtain a confirmation issued by the Spanish tax authorities of the
application of the deferred tax assets regime (foreseen in Royal Decree Law 14/2013) to some losses recorded in
Catalunya Banc’s consolidated financial statements for 2013 which were originated as a consequence of the
transfer of assets by Catalunya Banc to the Management Company for Assets Arising from the Banking Sector
Reorganization (known as “SAREB".

Closing of the sale and purchase transaction will be subject, among others, to the obtaining of the relevant
administrative authorizations and approvals and to the effective closing of the transaction announced by
Catalunya Banc to the market on July 17, 2014 whereby Catalunya Banc will transfer to an asset securitization
fund a loan portfolio with a nominal value of €6,392 million.
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Divestitures
Agreement to sell CNCB

On January 23, 2015 the Group BBVA has signed an agreement to sell 4.9% in China CITIC Bank Corporation
Limited (CNCB) to UBS AG, London Branch (UBS), who has entered into transactions pursuant to which such
CNCB shares will be transferred to a third party and the ultimate economic benefit of ownership of such CNCB
shares will be transferred to Xinhu Zhongbao Co., Ltd (Xinhu) (the Relevant Transactions).

The selling price to UBS is HK$ 5.73 per share, amounting to a total of HK$ 13,136 million, equivalent to
approximately €1,460 million. After completing the sale BBVA will hold a 4.7% interest in CNCB.

The closing of this transaction between UBS and BBVA will happen after the legal and corporate requirements
necessary for the Relevant Transactions relating to Xinhu have been completed. As of December 31, 2014, this
participation is recognized under the heading “Non-Current assets available for sale” see “Changes in the Group in
2013" - (Note 12).

We estimate that the closing of the BBVA transaction will take place within the first quarter of 2015. The
estimated impact on the consolidated financial statements of the BBVA Group will be a net capital gain of
approximately €400 million.

Agreement to sell the participation in Citic International Financial Holding (CIFH)

On December 23, the BBVA Group signed an agreement to sell its participation of 29.68% in Citic International
Financial Holdings Limited (CIFH), to China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited (CNCB). CIFH is a non listed
subsidiary of CNCB domiciled in Hong Kong. The selling price is HK$8,162 million. The closing of such
agreement is subject to the relevant regulatory approvals. The estimated impact on the attributable profit of the
consolidated financial statements of the BBVA Group will be approximately €25 million.

As of December 31, 2014, this participation is recognized under the heading “Non-Current assets held for sale”
from the heading “Investments in entities accounted for using the equity method -Associates” (see Note 16).

Changes in the Group in 2014

Purchase of Simple

On February 20, 2014, the Group announced its agreement to acquire the 1T00% of Simple Finance Technology
Corp. (‘Simple”) for a price of $117 million (approximately €84 million). The goodwill recognized by this

acquisition amounted to $89 million (approximately €65 million, see Note 18), although this amount is
provisional, as under IFRS 3 a period of one year is allowed to make a definitive determination.

Changes in the Group in 2013

Purchase of Unnim Vida

On February 1, 2013, Unnim Banc, S.A. later absorbed by the Bank, reached an agreement with Aegon Spain
Holding B.V. to acquire the 50% of Unnim Vida, Inc. Insurance and Reinsurance (‘Unnim Vida" for a price of
€352 million. Thus, the BBVA Group owned 100% of the stake of "Unnim Vida.

Sale of BBVA Panama

On July 20, 2013, BBVA announced that it had reached an agreement with the entity Leasing Bogota S.A.,
Panama, a subsidiary of Grupo Aval Acciones y Valores, S.A., for the sale of the direct and indirect ownership
interest (98.92%) in Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria (Panamad), S.A. (‘BBVA Panama”).

On December 19, 2013, after having obtained the necessary approvals, BBVA completed the sale.

The total consideration that BBVA received pursuant to this sale amounted to approximately $645 million, $505
million as sale price and $140 million as distribution of dividends by BBVA Panama from June 1, 2013.

BBVA received part of the consideration through the distribution of dividends from BBVA Panama amounting to

$140 million prior to closing (such amount has consequently reduced the purchase price to be paid to BBVA on
closing).
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After deducing such distribution of dividends the capital gain gross of taxes amounted to approximately €230
million which was recognized under the heading “Gains (losses) on non-current assets held for sale not classified
as discontinued operations” in the consolidated income statement in 2073.

Sale of pension businesses in Latin America

On May 24, 2012 BBVA announced its decision to conduct a study on strategic alternatives for its pension
business in Latin America. The alternatives considered in this process include the total or partial sale of the
businesses of the Pension Fund Administrators ((AFP”) in Chile, Colombia and Peru, and the Retirement Fund
Administrator (Afore) in Mexico.

On October 2, 2013, with the sale of “AFP Provida” (Administradora de Fondos de Pensiones AFP Provida de
Chile), BBVA finalized the process. Below there is a description of each of the operations that have been carried
out during this process:

Sale of AFP Provida (Chile)

On February 1, 2013, BBVA reached an agreement with MetLife, Inc., for the sale of the 64.3% stake that BBVA
held direct and indirectly in the Chilean Pension Fund manager Administradora de Fondos de Pensiones Provida
SA ("AFP Provida".

On October 2, 2013, BBVA completed the sale. The total amount in cash received by BBVA was approximately
1,540 million U.S. dollars ("USD"), taking into account the purchase price amounting to roughly 1,310 million
USD as well as the dividends paid by AFP Provida since February 1, 2013 amounting to roughly 230 million
USD. The gain on disposal, attributable to the Parent company net of taxes, amounted to approximately €500
million which was recognized under the heading “Profit from discontinued operations (Net)” in the consolidated
income statement in 201 3.

Sale of BBVA AFP Horizonte S.A. (Peru)

On April 23, 2013, BBVA sold a wholly owned Peruvian subsidiary "AFP Horizonte SA" to "AFP Integra SA" and
"Profuturo AFP, SA" who have each acquired 50% of said company.

The total consideration paid for the shares is approximately US$ 544 million. This consideration is composed by
a price of approximately US$ 516 million and a dividend distributed prior to the closing of approximately US$ 28
million.

The gain on disposal, attributable to parent company net of taxes, amounted to approximately €206 million at
the moment of the sale and such gain was recognized under the heading “Profit from discontinued operations
(Net)” in the consolidated income statement in 2013 (see Note 49.2).

Sale of BBVA AFP Horizonte S.A. (Colombia)

On December 24, 2012, BBVA reached an agreement with Sociedad Administradora de Fondos de Pensiones y
Cesantias Porvenir, S.A., a subsidiary of Grupo Aval Acciones y Valores, S.A., for the sale to the former of the
total stake that BBVA held directly or indirectly in the Colombian company BBVA Horizonte Sociedad
Administradora de Fondos de Pensiones y Cesantias S.A.

On April 18, 2013, after having obtained the necessary approvals, BBVA completed the sale. The adjusted total
price was US$ 541.4 million. The gain on disposal, attributable to parent company net of taxes, amounted to
approximately €255 million at the moment of the sale, and was recognized under the heading “Profit from
discontinued operations (Net)” in the consolidated income statement in 2013 (see Note 49.2).

Sale of Afore Bancomer (Mexico)

On November 27, 2012, BBVA reached an agreement to sell to Afore XXI Banorte, S.A. de C.V. its entire stake
directly or indirectly held in the Mexican subsidiary Administradora de Fondos para el Retiro Bancomer, S.A. de
C.V.

Once the corresponding authorization had been obtained from the competent authorities, the sale was closed on
January 9, 2013, at which point the BBVA Group no longer had control over the subsidiary sold.

The total sale price was USD 1,735 million (@pproximately €1,327 million). The gain on disposal, attributable to

parent company net of taxes, was approximately €771 million, and was recognized under the heading “Profit
from discontinued operations (Net)” in the consolidated income statement in 2013 (see Note 49.2).
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Agreement with Citic Group

As of October 21, 2013, BBVA reached a new agreement with the Citic Group that included among other
aspects the sale of its 5.1% stake in China Citic Bank Corporation Limited (CNCB) to Citic Limited for an amount
of approximately €944 million, after this sale, the stake of BBVA in CNCB was reduced to the 9.9%.

In accordance with IFRS 11, the new situation implies a change in the accounting criteria applied to the
participation of BBVA in CNCB, being now a no material financial participation recognized under the heading
“Available-for-sale financial assets” (see Notes 12 and 16).

As a result of this change in the accounting criteria and the mentioned sale, the loss attributable to the BBVA
Group at the time of the sale amounted to approximately €2,600 million which was recognized under the
heading “Gains (losses) on derecognized assets not classified as non-current assets held for sale” in the
consolidated income statement in 2013 (see Note 48).

Changes in the Group in 2012
Acquisition of Unnim

On March 7, 2012, the Governing Board of the Fund for Orderly Bank Restructuring (FROB) awarded BBVA
Unnim Banc, S.A. (hereinafter “Unnim”).

This was done through a share sale purchase agreement between FROB, the Credit Institution Deposit Guarantee
Fund (hereinafter “FGD") and BBVA, under which BBVA was to purchase 100% of the shares of Unnim for €1.

A Protocol of Financial Support Measures was also concluded for the restructuring of Unnim. This regulates an
asset protection scheme (EPA) whereby the FGD will assume 80% of the losses that may be incurred on a
portfolio of predetermined Unnim assets for the next 10 years.

On July 27 2012, following the completion of the transaction, Unnim became a wholly owned subsidiary of
BBVA.

As of May 23, 2013 the Unnim merger by acquisition public deed was entered on the companies register of
Vizcaya.

Sale of the business in Puerto Rico

On June 28, 2012, BBVA reached an agreement to sell its business in Puerto Rico to Oriental Financial Group
Inc.

This agreement included the sale of 100% of the common stock of BBVA Securities of Puerto Rico, Inc. and
BBVA PR Holding Corporation, which in turn owned 100% of the common stock of Banco Bilbao Vizcaya
Argentaria Puerto Rico and of BBVA Seguros Inc.

Once the corresponding authorization had been obtained from the competent authorities, the sale closed on
December 18, 2012, at which point the BBVA Group no longer had control over the businesses.

The sale price was USD 500 million (around €385 million at the exchange rate on the transaction date). Gross
losses from the sale were around €15 million (taking into account the exchange rate at the transaction date and
the earnings of these entities up to December 18, 2012). These capital losses are recognized under the heading
“Gains (losses) on non-current assets held for sale not classified as discontinued operations” in the consolidated
income statement for 2012 (see Note 49.2).

4.  Shareholder remuneration system and allocation of earnings

Shareholder remuneration system

During 2011, 2012 and 2013, a shareholder remuneration system called the “Dividend Option” was
implemented.

Under this remuneration scheme, BBVA offers its shareholders the opportunity to receive part of their
remuneration in the form of free shares; however, they can still choose to receive it in cash by selling the rights
assigned to them in each capital increase either to BBVA (by the Bank exercising its commitment to purchase the
free assignment rights) or on the market.

46



Translation of the Consolidated Financial Statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with EU-IFRSs, as
adopted by the European Union (See Note 1 and 56). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

The Bank's Shareholders’ Annual General Meeting held on March 14, 2014 once more approved the
establishment of the “Dividend Option” program for 2014, through four share capital increases charged to
voluntary reserves, under similar conditions to those established in the previous years.

In April 2014, the Executive Committee approved the execution of the first of the capital increases charged to
reserves as agreed by the AGM held on March 14, 2014 to implement the Dividend Option. As a result of this
increase, the Bank's common stock increased by €49,594,990.83 (101,214,267 shares at a €0.49 par value
each). 89.21% of shareholders opted to receive their remuneration in the form of shares (see Note 25). The
other 10.79% of the right owners opted to sell the rights assigned to them to BBVA, and as a result, BBVA
acquired 624,026,809 rights for a total amount of €104,836,503.91; said shareholders were paid in cash at a
gross fixed price of €0.168 per right.

In October 2014, the Executive Committee approved the execution of the first of the capital increases charged to
reserves as agreed by the AGM held on March 14, 2014 to implement the Dividend Option. As a result of this
increase, the Bank's common stock increased by €20,455,560.09 (41,746,041 shares at a €0.49 par value
each). 85.09% of shareholders opted to receive their remuneration in the form of shares (see Note 25). The
other 14.91% of the right owners opted to sell the rights assigned to them to BBVA, and as a result, BBVA
acquired 877,643,649 rights for a total amount of €70,211,491.92; said shareholders were paid in cash at a
gross fixed price of €0.080 per right.

In December 2014, the Executive Committee approved the execution of the third of the capital increases
charged to reserves as agreed by the AGM held on March 14, 2014 to implement the Dividend Option. As a
result of this increase, the Bank's common stock increased by €26,256,622.07 (53,584,943 shares at a €0.49
par value each). 85.96% of shareholders opted to receive their remuneration in the form of shares (see Note 25).
The other 14.04% of the right owners opted to sell the rights assigned to them to BBVA, and as a result, BBVA
acquired 866,429,450 rights for a total amount of €69,314,363.20; said shareholders were paid in cash at a
gross fixed price of €0.080 per right.

Dividends

At its meeting of June 25, 2014, the Board of Directors of BBVA approved the payment of an interim dividend
against 2014 earnings of €0.08 gross (€0.0632 net) per outstanding share to be paid on July 10, 2014.

The expected financial statements prepared in accordance with legal requirements evidenced the existence of
sufficient liguidity for the distribution of the amounts to the interim dividend, as follows:

Millions of Euros
. . . May 31,
Profit of BBVA, S.A. at each of the dates indicated, after the
provision for income tax 983
Less -
Estimated provision for Legal Reserve 10
Acquisition by the bank of the free allotmentrights in 2014
capital increase 105
Additional Tier | capital instruments remuneration 53
Maximum amount distributable 815
Amount of proposed interim dividend 471
BBVA cash balance available to the date 1,827

The amount of the interim dividend which was paid to the shareholders on July 10, 2014, after deducting the
treasury shares held by the Group’s entities, amounted to €471 million and was recognized under the heading
“Stockholders’ funds - Dividends and remuneration”
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The allocation of earnings for 2014 subject to the approval of the Board of Directors at the Annual Shareholders
Meeting is presented below:

Millions of Euros

Allocation of Earnings m

Profit for year (*) 1,105
Distribution:
Interim dividends 471
Acquisition by the bank of the free allotment rights (**) 244
Additional Tier 1 securities 126
Legal reserve 38
Voluntaryreserves 226

(*  Net Income of BBVA S.A. (Appendix X).
(**)  Concerning to the remuneration to shareholders who choose to be paid in cash through the "Dividend Option"

5. Earnings per share

Earnings per share, basic and diluted are calculated in accordance with the criteria established by IAS 33. For
more information see Glossary of terms

The Bank issued additional share capital in 2014, 2013 and 2012 (see 25). In accordance with IAS 33, when
there is a capital increase earnings per share, basic and diluted, should be recalculated for previous periods
applying a corrective factor to the denominator (the weighted average number of shares outstanding) This
corrective factor is the result of dividing the fair value per share immediately before the exercise of rights by the
theoretical ex-rights fair value per share. The basic and diluted earnings per share for December 2013 and 2012
were recalculated on this basis.

The calculation of earnings per share is as follows:

Basic and Diluted Earnings per Share 2013 (%) 2012 (*)

Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per share (millions of euros)

Profit attributable to parent company 2,618 2,084 1,676
Adjustment: Mandatory convertible bonds interest expenses (3) - - 95
Profit adjusted (millions of euros) (A) 2,618 2,084 1,771
Profit from discontinued operations (net of non-controlling interest) (B) - 1,819 319
Denominator for basic earnings per share (number of shares outstanding)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (1) 5,905 5,597 5,148
Weighted average number of shares outstanding x corrective factor (2) 5,905 5,815 5,514
Adjustment: Average number of estimated shares to be converted (3) - - 315
Adjusted number of shares - Basic earning per share (C) 5,905 5,815 5,829
Adjusted number of shares - diluted earning per share (D) 5,905 5,815 5,829
Basic earnings per share from continued operations (Euros per share)A-B/C 0.44 0.05 0.25
Diluted earnings per share from continued operations (Euros per share)A-B/D 0.44 0.05 0.25
Basic earnings per share from discontinued operations (Euros per share)B/C - 0.31 0.05
Diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations (Euros per share)B/D - 0.31 0.05

(1) Weighted average number of shares outstanding (millions of euros), excluded weighted average of treasury shares
during the period.

(2)  Corrective factor, due to the capital increase with pre-emptive subscription right, applied for the previous years.
(3)  Conversion of convertible bonds as of June 30, 2013 (see Note 21.4)
* Data recalculated due to the mentioned corrective factor.

As of December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, there were no other financial instruments or share option
commitments with employees that could potentially affect the calculation of the diluted earnings per share for the
years presented. For this reason the basic and diluted earnings are matched.
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Operating segment reporting

The information about operating segments is provided in accordance with IFRS 8. Operating segment reporting
represents a basic tool in the oversight and management of the BBVA Group’s various activities. The BBVA Group
compiles reporting information on as disaggregated level as possible, and all data relating to the businesses these
units manage is recognized in full. These minimum level units are then aggregated in accordance with the
organizational structure determined by the BBVA Group management into higher level units and, ultimately, the
reportable segments themselves. Similarly, all the entities that make up the BBVA Group are also assigned to the
different operating segments according to the geographical areas where they carry out their activity.

Once the composition of each of the operating segments in the BBVA Group has been defined, certain
management criteria are applied, noteworthy among which are the following:

Internal transfer prices

The calculation of the net interest income of each business is performed by applying the internal transfer
rates to both the asset and liability entries. These rates are composed of a market rate that depends on the
revision period of the operation, and a liquidity premium that aims to reflect the conditions and outlook of the
financial markets. Earnings are distributed across revenue-generating and distribution units (e.g., in asset
management products) at market prices.

Allocation of operating expenses

Both direct and indirect expenses are allocated to the operating segments, except for those items for which
there is no clearly defined or close link with the businesses, as they represent corporate or institutional
expenses incurred on behalf of the Group as a whole.

Cross-selling

On certain occasions, adjustments are made to eliminate overlap accounted for in the results of two or more
units as a result of encouraging cross-selling between businesses.

During 2014, the operating segment reporting structure is as in 2013, and is as follows:

Banking activity in Spain which as in previous years includes:

- The Retail network, with the segments of individual customers, private banking, and small businesses.

- Corporate and Business Banking (CBB), which handles the SMEs, corporations and public sector in the
country.

- Corporate & Investment Banking (CIB), which includes business with large corporations and multinational
groups and the trading floor and distribution business in the same geographical area.

- Other units, among them BBVA Seguros and Asset Management (management of mutual and pension
funds in Spain.

- In addition, it also includes the portfolios, finance and structural interest-rate positions of the euro balance
sheet.

Real estate activity in Spain

Manage the assets of the real-estate area accumulated by the Group as a result of the crisis in Spain. It
therefore mainly combines loans to real-estate developers and foreclosed real estate assets.

Eurasia

Includes the business carried out in the rest of Europe and Asia, i.e. the retail and wholesale businesses of
the BBVA Group in the area. It also includes BBVA's stakes in the Turkish bank Garanti and the Chinese
banks CNCB and CIFH.

Mexico

Comprising of the banking and insurance businesses. The banking business includes retail business through
its Commercial Banking, Consumer Finance and Corporate and Institutional Banking units; and wholesale
banking through CIB.
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e The United States
Encompasses the Group’s businesses in the United States.
e South America
Includes the banking and insurance businesses that BBVA carries out in the region.

Finally, Corporate Center is an aggregate that contains the remainder of the items that have not been allocated to
the operating segments, as it basically corresponds to the Group’s holding function. It groups together the costs
of the headqguarters that have a corporate function; management of structural exchange-rate positions, carried
out by the Financial Planning unit; specific issues of capital instruments to ensure adequate management of the
Group’s global solvency; portfolios and their corresponding results, whose management is not linked to customer
relations, such as industrial holdings; certain tax assets and liabilities; funds due to commitments with pensioners;
goodwill and other intangibles; and the results of certain corporate transactions.

The breakdown of the BBVA Group’s total assets by operating segments as of December 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012, is as follows:

Millions of Euros

Total Assets by Operating Segments m 2013 (*) 2012 (%)
Spain 318,353 314,902 345,521
Real Estate Activity in Spain 17,934 20,582 22,112
Eurasia (1) 44,667 41,223 48,324
Mexico 93,731 81,801 82,722
South America 84,364 77,874 75,877
United States 69,261 53,046 53,880

Subtotal Assets by Operating Segments 628,310 589,428 628,436
Corporate Center and other adjustments (2) 3,632 (6,731) (7,304)

Total Assets BBVA Group 631,942 582,697 621,132

(1) The information is presented under management criteria, pursuant to which Garanti's assets and liabilities have
been proportionally integrated based on our 25.01% interest in Garanti.

(2)  Other adjustments include adjustments made to account for the fact that, in our Consolidated Financial Statements,
Garanti is accounted for using the equity method rather than using the management criteria referred above.

() The figures corresponding to December 2013 and 2012 have been restated in order to allow homogeneous year-
on-year comparisons due to immaterial changes in the scope of the operating segments and a change in
accounting criteria registered in the Corporate Center (see Note 1.3).

The profit and main earning figures in the consolidated income statements for the year ended December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012 by operating segments are as follows:

Millions of Euros

Operating Segments
Main Margins and Profits by BBVA R::t'_?m_;e South United Corporate | Adjusments
A ivity i N
Operating Segments Group Spain America States Center (2)

2014
Netinterestincome 14,382 3,830 (38) 924 4,910 4,699 1,443 (651) (734)
Gross income 20,725 6,622 (132) 1,680 6,522 5,191 2,137 (664) (632)
Net operating income (1) 10,166 3,777 (291) 942 4,115 2875 640 (1,653) (240)
Operating profit /(loss) before tax 3,980 1,463 (1,225) 713 2,519 1,951 561 (1,920) (83)
Profit 2,618 1,028 (876) 565 1,915 1,001 428 (1,444) B
2013 (*)
Net interestincome 13,900 3,838 (3) 909 4,478 4,660 1,402 (671) (713)
Gross income 20,752 6,103 (38) 1,717 6,194 5,583 2,047 (416) (439)
Net operating income (1) 9,956 3,088 (188) 981 3,865 3,208 618 (1,584) (34)
Operating profit /(loss) before tax 954 230 (1,838) 586 2,358 2,354 534 (1,680) (1,590)
Profit 2,084 589 (1,252) 449 1,802 1,224 390 (1,117) -
2012(%)
Net interestincome 14,474 4,729 (21) 851 4,174 4,236 1,550 (397) (648)
Gross income 21,824 6,659 (79) 1,665 5,751 5,308 2,198 391 (68)
Net operating income (1) 11,450 3,776 (209) 886 3,590 3,023 722 (681) 344
Operating profit /(loss) before tax 1,582 1,651 (5,705) 508 2,223 2,234 620 (783) 833
Profit 1,676 1,186 (4,068) 404 1,687 1,172 445 850 -

(1) Gross Income less Administrative Cost and Amortization

(2)  Includes adjustments due to Garanti Group accounted for using the equity method instead of using management
criteria as referenced earlier.

() The figures corresponding to December 2013 and 2012 have been restated in order to allow homogeneous year-
on-year comparisons due to immaterial changes in the scope of the operating segments and a change in
accounting criteria registered in the Corporate Center (see Note 1.3).
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There is further information in the accompanying consolidated Management Report (see Chapter 2) regarding the
income statements and the main values of the balance sheet by operating segments 2014.

7. Risk management

7.1  General risk management and control model

The BBVA Group has an overall control and risk management model (hereinafter the model) tailored to their
business, their organization and the geographies in which it operates, allowing them to develop their activity in
accordance with their strategy and policy control and risk management defined by the governing bodies of the
Bank and adapt to a changing economic and regulatory environment, tackling management globally and adapted
to the circumstances of each instance.

This model is applied comprehensively in the Group and consists of the basic elements listed below::

e Governance and organization

e Risk appetite

e Decisions and processes

e Assessment, monitoring and reporting
e Infrastructure

The Group encourages the development of a risk culture to ensure consistent application of the control and risk
management model in the Group, and to ensure that the risk function is understood and assimilated at all levels
of the organization.

7.1.1 Governance and organization

The governance model for risk management at BBVA is characterized by a special involvement of its corporate
bodies, both in setting the risk strategy and in the ongoing monitoring and supervision of its implementation.

Thus, as developed below, the corporate bodies are the ones that approve this risk strategy and corporate
policies for the different types of risk, being the risk function responsible for the management, its implementation
and development, reporting to the governing bodies.

The responsibility for the daily management of the risks lies on the businesses which abide in the development of
their activity to the policies, standards, procedures, infrastructure and controls, based on the framework set by
the governing bodies, which are defined by the function risk.

To perform this task properly, the risk function in the BBVA Group is configured as a single, comprehensive and
independent role of commercial areas.

Corporate governance system

BBVA Group has developed a corporate governance system that is in line with the best international practices
and adapted to the requirements of the regulators in the countries in which its different business units operate.

The Board of Directors (hereinafter also referred to as "the Board") approves the risk strategy and supervises the
internal control and management systems. Specifically, the strategy approved by the Board includes, at least, the
Group's Risk Appetite statement, the fundamental metrics and the basic structure of limits by geographies, types
of risk and asset classes, as well as the bases of the control and risk management model. The Board ensures that
the budget is in line with the approved risk appetite.

On the basis established by the Board of Directors, the Executive Committee approves specific corporate policies
for each type of risk. Furthermore, the committee approves the Group's risk limits and monitors them, being
informed of both limit excess occurrences and, where applicable, the appropriate corrective measures taken.
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Lastly, the Board of Directors has set up a Board committee specializing in risks, the Risk Committee ('RC". This
committee is responsible for analyzing and regularly monitoring risks within the remit of the corporate bodies and
assists the Board and the SC in determining and monitoring the risk strategy and the corporate policies,
respectively. Another task of special relevance it carries out is detailed control and monitoring of the risks that
affect the Group as a whole, which enables it to supervise the effective integration of the risk strategy
management and the application of corporate policies approved by the corporate bodies.

The head of the risk function in the executive hierarchy is the Group's Chief Risk Officer (CRO), who carries out its
functions with independence, authority, capacity and resources to do so. He is appointed by the Board of
Directors of the Bank as a member of its senior management, and has direct access to its corporate bodies
(Board of Directors, Executive Standing Committee and Risk Committee), who reports regularly on the status of
risks to the Group.

The Chief Risk Officer, for the utmost performance of its functions, is supported by a cross composed set of units
in corporate risk and the specific risk units in the geographical and / or business areas of the Group structure.
Each of these units is headed by a Risk Officer for the geographical and/or business area who, within his/her field
of competence, carries out risk management and control functions and is responsible for applying the corporate
policies and rules approved at Group level in a consistent manner, adapting them if necessary to local
requirements and reporting to the local corporate bodies.

The Risk Officers of the geographical and/or business areas report both to the Group's Chief Risk Officer and to
the head of their geographical and/or business area. This dual reporting system aims to ensure that the local risk
management function is independent from the operating functions and that it is aligned with the Group's
corporate risk policies and goals.

Organizational structure and committees

The risk management function, as defined above, consists of risk units from the corporate area, which carry out
cross-cutting functions, and risk units from the geographical and/or business areas.

* The corporate area's risk units develop and present the Group's risk appetite proposal, corporate policies,
rules and global procedures and infrastructures to the Group's Chief Risk Officer (CRO), within the action
framework approved by the corporate bodies, ensure their application, and report either directly or through
the Group's Chief Risk Officer (CRO) to the Bank's corporate bodies.

Their functions include:

- Management of the different types of risks at Group level in accordance with the strategy defined by the
corporate bodies.

- Risk planning aligned with the risk appetite principles.

- Monitoring and control of the Group's risk profile in relation to the risk appetite approved by the Bank's
corporate bodies, providing accurate and reliable information with the required frequency and in the
necessary format.

- Prospective analyses to enable an evaluation of compliance with the risk appetite in stress scenarios and
the analysis of risk mitigation mechanisms.

- Management of the technological and methodological developments required for implementing the
Model in the Group.

- Design of the Group's Internal Risk Control model and definition of the methodology, corporate criteria
and procedures for identifying and prioritizing the risk inherent in each unit's activities and processes.

- Validation of the models used and the results obtained by them in order to verify their adaptation to the
different uses to which they are applied.

e The risk units in the business units develop and present to the Risk Officer of the geographical and/or
business area the risk appetite proposal applicable in each geographical and/or business area, independently
and always within the Group's risk appetite. They also ensure that the corporate policies and rules approved
consistently at a Group level are applied, adapting them if necessary to local requirements; they are provided
with appropriate infrastructures for managing and controlling their risks; and they report to their corporate
bodies and/or to senior management, as appropriate.
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The local risk units thus work with the corporate area risk units in order to adapt to the risk strategy at Group
level and share all the information necessary for monitoring the development of their risks.

The risk function has a decision-making process to perform its functions, underpinned by a structure of
committees, where the Global Risk Management Committee (GRMC) acts as the highest committee within Risk. It
proposes, examines and, where applicable, approves, among others, the internal risk regulatory framework and
the procedures and infrastructures needed to identify, assess, measure and manage the material risks faced by
the Group in its businesses. The members of this Committee are the Group's Chief Risk Officer and the heads of
the risk units of the corporate area and of the most representative geographical and/or business areas.

The Global Risk Management Committee (GRMC) carries out its functions assisted by various support committees
which include:

e Global Technical Operations Committee: It is responsible for decision-making related to wholesale credit risk
admission in certain customer segments.

*  Monitoring, Assessment & Reporting Committee: It guarantees and ensures the appropriate development of
aspects related to risk identification, assessment, monitoring and reporting, with an integrated and cross-
cutting vision.

e Asset Allocation Committee: The executive body responsible for analysis and decision-making on all credit risk
matters related to the processes intended for obtaining a balance between risk and return in accordance with
the Group's risk appetite.

e Technology and Methodologies Committee: It determines the need for new models and infrastructures and
channels the decision-making related to the tools needed for managing all the risks to which the Group is
exposed.

e Corporate Technological Risks and Operational Control Committee: It approves the Technological Risks and
Operational Control Management Frameworks in accordance with the General Risk Management Model's
architecture and monitors metrics, risk profiles and operational loss events.

e Global Market Risk Unit Committee: It is responsible for formalizing, supervising and communicating the
monitoring of trading desk risk in all the Global Markets business units.

e Corporate Operational and Outsourcing Risk Admission Committee: It identifies and assesses the operational
risks of new businesses, new products and services, and outsourcing initiatives.

Each geographical and/or business area has its own risk management committee (or committees), with objectives
and contents similar to those of the corporate area, which perform their duties consistently and in line with
corporate risk policies and rules.

Under this organizational scheme, the risk management function ensures the risk strategy, the regulatory
framework, and standardized risk infrastructures and controls are integrated and applied across the entire Group.
It also benefits from the knowledge and proximity to customers in each geographical and/or business area, and
transmits the corporate risk culture to the Group's different levels.

Internal Risk Control and Internal Validation

The Group has a specific Internal Risk Control unit whose main function is to ensure there is an adequate internal
regulatory framework in place, together with a process and measures defined for each type of risk identified in
the Group, (and for other types of risk that could potentially affect the Group, to oversee their application and
operation, and to ensure that the risk strategy is integrated into the Group's management. The Internal Risk
Control unit is independent from the units that develop risk models, manage running processes and controls. Its
scope is global both geographically and in terms of type of risk.
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The Director of Group Internal Control Risk is responsible for the function, and reports its activities and work plans
to the CRO and the Risk Committee of the Board, besides attending to it on issues deemed necessary.

For this purpose, the Risk area also has a Technical area independent from the units that develop risk models,
manage running processes and controls, which gives the Commission the necessary technical support to better
perform their functions.

The unit has a structure of teams at both corporate level and in the most relevant geographical areas in which
the Group operates. As in the case of the corporate area, local units are independent of the business areas that
execute the processes, and of the units that execute the controls. They report functionally to the Internal Risk
Control unit. This unit's lines of action are established at Group level, and it is responsible for adapting and
executing them locally, as well as for reporting the most relevant aspects.

Additionally, the Group has an Internal Validation unit, also independent rom the units that develop risk models
and of those who use them to manage. Its functions include, among others, review and independent validation,
internally, of the models used for the control and management of the Group's risks.

BBVA Group’s internal control system is based on the best practices developed in “Enterprise Risk Management -
Integrated Framework” by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) and
in the “Framework for Internal Control Systems in Banking Organizations” by the Bank for International
Settlements (BIS).

The control model has a system with three lines of defense:

e The first line is made up of the Group's business units, which are responsible for control within their area and
for executing any measures established by higher management levels.

e The second line consists of the specialized control units (Legal Compliance, Global Accounting & Information
Management/Internal Financial Control, Internal Risk Control, IT Risk, Fraud & Security, Operations Control
and the Production Divisions of the support units, such as Human Resources, Legal Services, etc.). This line
supervises the control of the various units within their cross-cutting field of expertise, defines the necessary
improvement and mitigating measures, and promotes their proper implementation. The Corporate
Operational Risk Management unit also forms part of this line, providing a methodology and common tools
for management.

e The third line is the Internal Audit unit, which conducts an independent review of the model, verifying the
compliance and effectiveness of the corporate policies and providing independent information on the control
model.

7.1.2 Risk appetite

The Group's risk appetite, approved by the Board of Directors, determines the risks (@and their level) that the
Group is willing to assume to achieve its business targets. These are expressed in terms of capital, liquidity,
profitability, recurrent earnings, cost of risk or other metrics. The definition of the risk appetite has the following
goals:

e To express the Group's strategy and the maximum levels of risk it is willing to assume, at both Group and
geographical and/or business area level.

e To establish a set of guidelines for action and a management framework for the medium and long term that
prevent actions from being taken (at both Group and geographical and/or business area level) which could
compromise the future viability of the Group.

e To establish a framework for relations with the geographical and/or business areas that, while preserving their
decision-making autonomy, ensures they act consistently, avoiding uneven behavior.

e To establish a common language throughout the organization and develop a compliance-oriented risk
culture.
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e Alignment with the new regulatory reqguirements, facilitating communication with regulators, investors and
other stakeholders, thanks to an integrated and stable risk management framework.

Risk appetite is expressed through the following elements:

e Risk appetite statement: sets out the general principles of the Group's risk strategy and the target risk profile.
BBVA's risk policy aims to maintain the risk profile set out in the Group's risk appetite statement, which is
reflected in a series of metrics (fundamental metrics and limits).

e Fundamental metrics: they reflect, in quantitative terms, the principles and the target risk profile set out in the
risk appetite statement.

e Limits: they establish the risk appetite at geographical and/or business area, legal entity and risk type level, or
any other level deemed appropriate, enabling its integration into management.

The corporate risk area works with the various geographical and/or business areas to define their risk appetite,
which will be coordinated with and integrated into the Group's risk appetite to ensure that its profile fits as
defined.

The BBVA Group assumes a certain degree of risk to be able to provide financial services and products to its
customers and obtain attractive returns for its shareholders. The organization must understand, manage and
control the risks it assumes.

The aim of the organization is not to eliminate all risks, but to assume a prudent level of risks that allows it to
generate returns while maintaining acceptable capital and fund levels and generating recurrent earnings.

BBVA's risk appetite expresses the levels and types of risk that the bank is willing to assume to be able to
implement its strategic plan with no relevant deviations, even in situations of stress.

Risk Appetite Statement Risk Appetite Framework
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Fundamental metrics

Those metrics that characterize the bank's objective behavior (as defined in the statement), enabling the
expression of the risk culture at all levels in a structured and understandable manner. They summarize the bank's
goals, and are therefore useful for communication to the stakeholders.

The fundamental metrics are strategic in nature. They are disseminated throughout the Group, understandable
and easy to calculate, and objectifiable at business and/or geographical area level, so they can be subject to
future projections.
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Limits

Metrics that determine the bank's strategic positioning for the different types of risk: credit, ALM, liquidity,
markets, operational. They differ from the fundamental metrics in the following respects:

* They are levers, not the result. They are a management tool related to a strategic positioning that must be
geared toward ensuring compliance with the fundamental metrics, even in an adverse scenario.

e Risk metrics: a higher level of specialization, they do not necessarily have to be disseminated across the
Group.

e Independent of the cycle: they can include metrics with little correlation with the economic cycle, thus
allowing comparability that is isolated from the specific macroeconomic situation.

Thus, they are levers for remaining within the thresholds defined in the fundamental metrics and are used for
day-to-day risk management. They include tolerance limits, sub-limits and alerts established at the level of
business and/or geographical areas, portfolios and products.

7.1.3 Decisions and processes
The transfer of risk appetite to ordinary management is supported by three basic aspects:

e A standardized set of regulations
e Risk planning

e Integrated management of risks over their life cycle

Standardized regulatory framework

The corporate GRM area is responsible for proposing the definition and development of the corporate policies,
specific rules, procedures and schemes of delegation based on which risk decisions should be taken within the
Group.

This process aims for the following objectives:

e Hierarchy and structure: well-structured information through a clear and simple hierarchy creating relations
between documents that depend on each other.

e Simplicity: an appropriate and sufficient number of documents.
e Standardization: a standardized name and content of document.

e Accessibility: ability to search for, and easy access to, documentation through the corporate risk
management library.

The approval of corporate policies for all types of risks corresponds to the corporate bodies of the Bank, while the
corporate risk area endorses the remaining regulations.

Risk units of geographical and / or business areas continue to adapt to local requirements the regulatory
framework for the purpose of having a decision process that is appropriate at local level and aligned with the
Group policies. If such adaptation is necessary, the local risk area must inform the corporate GRM area, which
must ensure the consistency of the set of regulations at the level of the entire Group, and thus must give its
approval prior to any modifications proposed by the local risk areas.

Risk planning

Risk planning ensures that the risk appetite is integrated into management, through a cascade process for
establishing limits, in which the function of the corporate area risk units and the geographical and/or business
areas is to guarantee the alignment of this process against the Group's risk appetite.
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It has tools in place that allow the risk appetite defined at aggregate level to be assigned and monitored by
business areas, legal entities, types of risk, concentrations and any other level considered necessary.

The risk planning process is present within the rest of the Group's planning framework so as to ensure
consistency among all of them.

Daily risk management
All risks must be managed integrally during their life cycle, and be treated differently depending on the type.
The risk management cycle is composed of 5 elements:

e Planning: with the aim of ensuring that the Group's activities are consistent with the target risk profile and
guaranteeing solvency in the development of the strategy.

e Assessment: a process focused on identifying all the risks inherent to the activities carried out by the Group.
e Formalization: includes the risk origination, approval and formalization stages.

e Monitoring and reporting: continuous and structured monitoring of risks and preparation of reports for
internal and/or external (market, investors, etc.) consumption.

e Active portfolio management: focused on identifying business opportunities in existing portfolios and new
markets, businesses and products.

7.1.4 Assessment, monitoring and reporting

Assessment, monitoring and reporting is a cross-cutting element that should ensure that the Model has a
dynamic and proactive vision to enable compliance with the risk appetite approved by the corporate bodies, even
in adverse scenarios. The materialization of this process covers all the categories of material risks and has the
following objectives:

o Assess compliance with the risk appetite at the present time, through monitoring of the fundamental
management metrics and limits.

* Assess compliance with the risk appetite in the future, through the projection of the risk appetite variables, in
both a baseline scenario determined by the budget and a risk scenario determined by the stress tests.

e |dentify and assess the risk factors and scenarios that could compromise compliance with the risk appetite,
through the development of a risk repository and an analysis of the impact of those risks.

e Act to mitigate the impact in the Group of the identified risk factors and scenarios, ensuring this impact
remains within the target risk profile.

* Monitor the key variables that are not a direct part of the risk appetite, but that condition its compliance.
These can be either external or internal.

The following phases need to be developed for undertaking this process:

A) ldentification of risk factors

Aimed at generating a map with the most relevant risk factors that can compromise the Group's performance in
relation to the thresholds defined in the risk appetite.

B) Impact evaluation

This involves evaluating the impact that the materialization of one (or more) of the risk factors identified in the
previous phase could have on the risk appetite metrics, through the occurrence of a given scenario.

C) Response to undesired situations and realignment measures

Exceeding the parameters will trigger an analysis of the realignment measures to enable dynamic management of
the situation, even before it occurs.
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D) Monitoring

The aim is to avoid losses before they occur by monitoring the Group's current risk profile and the identified risk
factors.

E) Reporting

This aims to provide information on the assumed risk profile by offering accurate, complete and reliable data to
the corporate bodies and to senior management, with the frequency and completeness appropriate to the
nature, significance and complexity of the risks.

7.1.5 Infrastructure

The infrastructure is an element that must ensure that the Group has the human and technological resources
needed for effective management and supervision of risks in order to carry out the functions set out in the
Group's risk Model and the achievement of their objectives.

With respect to human resources, the Group's risk function will have an adequate workforce, in terms of number,
skills and experience.

With regards to technology, the Group ensures the integrity of management information systems and the
provision of the infrastructure needed for supporting risk management, including tools appropriate to the needs
arising from the different types of risks for their admission, management, assessment and monitoring.

The principles that govern the Group risk technology are:

e Standardization: the criteria are consistent across the Group, thus ensuring that risk handling is standardized
at geographical and/or business area level.

e Integration in management: the tools incorporate the corporate risk policies and are applied in the Group's
day-to-day management.

e Automation of the main processes making up the risk management cycle.
* Appropriateness: provision of adequate information at the right time.

Through the “Risk Analytics” function, the Group has a corporate framework in place for developing the
measurement technigues and models. It covers all the types of risks and the different purposes and uses a
standard language for all the activities and geographical/business areas and decentralized execution to make the
most of the Group's global reach. The aim is to continually evolve the existing risk models and generate others
that cover the new areas of the businesses that develop them, so as to reinforce the anticipation and
proactiveness that characterize the Group's risk function.

Also the risk units of geographical and / or business areas shall ensure that they have sufficient means from the
point of view of resources, structures and tools to develop a risk management in line with the corporate model.

7.1.6 Risk culture

BBVA considers risk culture to be an essential element for consolidating and integrating the other components of
the Model. The culture transfers the implications that are involved in the Group's activities and businesses to all
the levels of the organization. The risk culture is organized through a number of levers, including the following:

e Communication: promotes the dissemination of the Model, and in particular the principles that must govern
risk management in the Group, in a consistent and integrated manner across the organization, through the
most appropriate channels.

GRM has a number of communication channels to facilitate the transmission of information and knowledge
among the various teams in the function and the Group, adapting the frequency, formats and recipients
based on the proposed goal, in order to strengthen the basic principles of the risk function. The risk culture
and the management model thus emanate from the Group's corporate bodies and senior management and
are transmitted throughout the organization.

58



Translation of the Consolidated Financial Statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with EU-IFRSs, as
adopted by the European Union (See Note 1 and 56). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

e Training: its main aim is to disseminate and establish the model of risk management across the organization,
ensuring standards in the skills and knowledge of the different persons involved in the risk management
processes.

Well defined and implemented training ensures continuous improvement of the skills and knowledge of the
Group's professionals, and in particular of the GRM area, and is based on four aspects that aim to develop
each of the needs of the GRM group by increasing its knowledge and skills in different fields such as: finance
and risks, tools and technology, management and skills, and languages.

e Motivation: the aim in this area is for the incentives of the risk function teams to support the strategy for
managing those teams and the function's values and culture at all levels. Includes compensation and all those
elements related to motivation - working environment, etc.. which contribute to the achievement Model
objectives.

7.2 Risk events

As mentioned earlier, BBVA has processes in place for identifying risks and analyzing scenarios that enable the
Group to manage risks in a dynamic and proactive way.

The risk identification processes are forward looking to ensure the identification of emerging risks and take into
account the concerns of both the business areas, which are close to the reality of the different geographical
areas, and the corporate areas and senior management.

Risks are captured and measured consistently using the methodologies deemed appropriate in each case. Their
measurement includes the design and application of scenario analyses and stress testing and considers the
controls to which the risks are subjected.

As part of this process, a forward projection of the risk appetite variables in stress scenarios is conducted in order
to identify possible deviations from the established thresholds. If any such deviations are detected, appropriate
measures are taken to keep the variables within the target risk profile.

To this extent, there are a number of emerging risks that could affect the Group’s business trends. These risks are
described in the following main blocks:

l. Macroeconomic and geopolitical risks

* The slowdown in economic growth in emerging countries and potential difficulties in the recovery of
European economies is a major focus for the Group.

e |n addition, financial institutions are exposed to the risks of political and social instability in the countries in
which they operate, which can have significant effects on their economies and even regionally.

In this regard the Group's diversification is a key to achieving a high level of recurring revenues, despite
environmental conditions and economic cycles of the economies in which it operates.

Il Regulatory, legal and reputational risks

e Financial institutions are exposed to a complex and ever-changing regulatory and legal environment defined
by governments and regulators. This can affect their ability to grow and the capacity of certain businesses to
develop, and result in stricter liquidity and capital requirements with lower profitability ratios. The Group
constantly monitors changes in the regulatory framework that allow for anticipation and adaptation to them
in a timely manner, adopt best practices and more efficient and rigorous criteria in its implementation

e The financial sector is under ever closer scrutiny by regulators, governments and society itself. Negative
news or inappropriate behavior can significantly damage the Group's reputation and affect its ability to
develop a sustainable business. The attitudes and behaviors of the group and its members are governed by
the principles of integrity, honesty, long-term vision and best practices through, inter alia, internal control
model, the Code of Conduct and Responsible Business Strategy of the Group.
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Business and operational risks

New technologies and forms of customer relationships: Developments in the digital world and in information
technologies pose significant challenges for financial institutions, entailing threats (new competitors,
disintermediation..) but also opportunities (new framework of relations with customers, greater ability to
adapt to their needs, new products and distribution channels...)

Technological risks and security breaches: The Group is exposed to new threats such as cyber-attacks, theft
of internal and customer databases, fraud in payment systems, etc. that require major investments in
security from both the technological and human point of view. The Group gives great importance to the
active operational and technological risk management and control. One example was the early adoption of
advanced models for management of these risks (AMA - Advanced Measurement Approach).

7.3 Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the probability that one party to a financial instrument will fai